
1

NOTICE OF MEETING
CABINET MEMBER FOR TRAFFIC & TRANSPORTATION

FRIDAY, 6 SEPTEMBER 2019 AT 4.00 PM

THE EXECUTIVE MEETING ROOM - THIRD FLOOR,  THE GUILDHALL

Telephone enquiries to Joanne Wildsmith Tel 023 9283 4057
Email: democratic@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

If any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting has access requirements, please 
notify the contact named above.

CABINET MEMBER FOR TRAFFIC & TRANSPORTATION
Councillor Lynne Stagg (Liberal Democrat)

Group Spokespersons

Councillor Simon Bosher, Conservative
Councillor Graham Heaney, Labour

(NB This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is 
going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) by 
12 noon of the working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the 
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendations). Email requests are 
accepted.

A G E N D A

1  Apologies 

2  Declarations of Members' Interests 

3  Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation - Reprioritisation (Pages 
5 - 18)

The purpose of the report by the Director of Regeneration is to establish the 
priorities of the Residents' Parking Programme, as per paragraph 4.6 of the 
Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation approved on 31 July 2018.

RECOMMENDED 

Public Document Pack



2

(1) the progress made since approval of the Residents' Parking 
Programme of Consultation on 31 July 2018, and described in 
paragraphs 4.4,  is noted;

(2) the Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation is divided into 
3 workstreams and prioritised as described in paragraph 6;

(3)  workstreams 1 and 2 are progressed as set out in Table 2 and 
described in paragraphs 6.2 to 6.6, and that workstream 3  is initially 
progressed using consultants as set out in Table 3 and described in 
paragraphs 6.7 to 6.10, and; 

(4) when either workstream 1 or 2 is complete the next area to be 
actioned will be determined in accordance with Table 4.   

4  Residents Parking Scheme Changes (Pages 19 - 32)

The purpose of the report by the Director of Regeneration is to recommend 
ways of improving the residents' parking scheme to 

 encourage  the use of cars with lower emissions
 encourage car sharing
 reduce the potential impact of student halls of residence on parking in 

the local area
 make it easier for residents living  near Residents Parking Zone (RPZ) 

boundaries to find parking and to reduce displacement

RECOMMENDED 
(1) That the following variations to the Portsmouth City Council 

(Various Roads) Residents Parking Places) (No. 9) Consolidation 
Order 2016 are advertised and any objections considered at a 
future Traffic and Transport Decision meeting:

(i) The procedure for issuing permits is changed to allow car 
sharing between people living in different zones by allowing the 
same vehicle to be issued with permits for two zones as described 
in paragraphs 4.3 to 4.5 

(ii) The eligibility for permits is changed to exclude student 
halls of residence as described in paragraphs 4.6 to 4.10. 

(2)  That the following variations to the charge for the issue of parking 
permits be advertised under the statutory notice procedure:   

(i) The charges for residents permits are changed, as 
described in paragraph 4.11 to 4.16, so the first permit for a 
household will be free if the vehicle is powered solely by 
electricity and that the charge for a first permit is reduced by 50% 
to £15 if the vehicle emits less than 100g of CO2 per Km provided 
(a) it is not powered by a diesel internal combustion engine and 
(b) that it was registered after 1 March 2001.

(ii) The cost of a third resident's permit to be reduced from 



3

£590 to £300 as described in paragraphs 4.17 and 4.18.

Members of the public are permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social media 
during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting nor records those 
stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at 
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the 
meeting's venue.

Whilst every effort will be made to webcast this meeting, should technical or other difficulties 
occur, the meeting will continue without being webcast via the Council's website.

This meeting is webcast (videoed), viewable via the Council's livestream account at 
https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785  

https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
 

  
Title of meeting: 
 

Cabinet Member for Traffic and Transportation Decision 
Meeting 
  

Date of meeting: 
 

6th September 2019 

Subject: 
 

Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation - 
Reprioritisation 
 

Report by: 
 

Tristan Samuels, Director of Regeneration 

Wards affected: 
 

All  

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to establish the priorities of the Residents' Parking 

Programme, as per paragraph 4.6 of the Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation 
approved on 31 July 2018. 

 
 Appendix A:   Citywide plan of requests for new Residents' Parking zones and proposed 

areas of consultation  
   
 Appendix B:  Map showing workstreams    
  
 Within this report, RPZ means Residents' Parking Zone. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 It is recommended that: 
 

(a) the progress made since approval of the Residents' Parking Programme of 
Consultation on 31 July 2018, and described in paragraphs 4.4,  is noted; 

 
(b) the Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation is divided into 3 workstreams 

and prioritised as described in paragraph 6; 
 

(c)   workstreams 1 and 2 are progressed as set out in Table 2 and described in 
paragraphs 6.2 to 6.6, and that workstream 3  is initially progressed using 
consultants as set out in Table 3 and described in paragraphs 6.7 to 6.10, and;  

 
(d) when either workstream 1 or 2 is complete the next area to be actioned will be 

determined in accordance with Table 4.    
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
3.  Strategic Context  
 
3.1 As a national and international maritime gateway on the south coast of England, 

Portsmouth is the economic centre of the South East Hampshire region.  
 
3.2  The city has been shaped by its island and peninsula geography, with the transport 

network significantly constrained by the limitations of the land, indeed there are only 
three road links from Portsea Island (where Portsmouth city centre is located) to the 
mainland, and a population density greater than any outside London.   

 
3.3  The transport network is reaching and exceeding capacity, negatively impacting in 

particular on productivity, economic growth, and air quality.   There is a dominance of 
trips, including shorter intra island trips, being undertaken by private car, with public 
transport accounting for a small mode share. Bus travel, particularly, for such shorter 
distance trips, is often costly and time-consuming. Portsmouth was identified by 
Government as one of eight ‘third wave’ local authorities required to develop an Air 
Quality Local Plan aimed at identifying measures to ensure compliance with air quality 
statutory annual limits for NO2 in the shortest possible time.   

 
3.4 In July 2018, Portsmouth City Council Full Council declared a Climate Emergency, with 

the Cabinet committing to devising an action plan to address the key challenges faced 
by the city.  

 
3.5 Transport has a key role to play in addressing these concerns to enable continued 

mobility, while fulfilling the Cabinet's commitment to reducing the number of cars within 
the city. 

 
 

4. Background 
 
4.1 The Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation was approved on 31st July 2018 by 

Cabinet, following a change in Council administration in May 2018.  The revised 
programme reflected the new administration's priorities.  An update report was 
considered and agreed at the Cabinet meeting held on 26th February 2019.   

 
4.2  Paragraph 4.6 of the report approving the Residents' Parking Programme of 

Consultation on 31st July 2018 stated -  
 
 A progress update report will be brought to Traffic & Transportation following completion 

of consultation on the potential MD Kings area parking zone, confirming the next 
priorities in the Residents' Parking Programme.  

 
 The report on the formal consultation on the proposed MD parking zone was considered 

by Cabinet members on 1st July 2019 and the decision was taken to implement the 
zone.  This report is presented as per paragraph 4.6 of the July 2018 report and 
recommends the priorities for the Residents' Parking Programme going forward. 

 
4.3 This reprioritised Residents' Parking Programme includes the potential new areas and 

existing reviews of parking zones within the approved 2015 and 2018 Residents' 
Parking Programmes.  The new proposed areas have been identified from residents' 

Page 6



3 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

requests and from the need to deal with potential displacement as a result of the 
implementation of schemes.  Appendix A shows requests received for new residents 
parking zones and proposed areas of consultation.  Appendix B presents a visual 
representation of this report - existing Residents Parking Zones and the new areas 
identified for consultation.  

 
4.4 Progress between August 2018 and July 2019:  
 

 3 new RPZs introduced (FH, MB, MC zones) 

 1 existing RPZ reviewed for improved operation and changes implemented (JB) 

 1 new RPZ approved for implementation in September 2019 (MD) 

 5 informal surveys undertaken (MD, ME, HC, GB, MF zones); residents updated 
with the survey results and next steps. 
 

4.5 The results of the informal survey of GB Alverstone Road area showed that the majority 
who responded were not in favour of permit parking.  Therefore, no formal proposals 
will be put forward and residents have been advised accordingly. The survey results are 
published on www.portsmouth.gov.uk under 'Parking Surveys Results'. 

  

5 Programme Development   
 
5.1  The City Council receives many requests for permit parking and has therefore 

developed a rolling Programme of Consultation to respond to requests and deal with 
any displacement issues. 

  
5.2 The Programme enables the needs of each area being considered for an RPZ to be 

assessed individually. The Programme needs to take into account that when a new 
zone is implemented within part of a wider area experiencing similar issues there is 
likely to be parking displacement.  This needs to be addressed.  The proposed Parking 
Programme of Consultation provides a rolling programme of RPZs to be progressed in 
a systematic way where they are needed and supported.   

 

5.3 The Residents' Parking Programme was on hold between 2012 and 2016 whilst a full 
review of parking was carried out, issues with parking zones in Southsea were resolved and 
consultation on reintroducing a charge for the first Resident permit was undertaken.   

 
5.4. The first Programme after this break was approved in 2015, and since then requests have 

been received that have caused the Programme to be reprioritised in response to the 
demand from residents and to deal with displacement parking.  This was acknowledged in 
paragraph 4.9 of the report "Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation" approved on 
31st July 2018 - 

 
There have been requests from local ward councillors and residents for consultation on 
Residents' Parking in the following wards: Charles Dickens, Copnor, Cosham, Eastney & 
Craneswater, Fratton, Hilsea, Milton, Nelson and Paulsgrove. These consultations will be 
progressed when resources allow. 

 
5.5 On 26th February 2019, an update on progress of the 2018 Resident Parking Programme 

of Consultation was presented to Full Cabinet, and a rolling programme of consultation was 
agreed which has been taken forward. 

 

Page 7

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/


4 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

5.6  On 16th July 2019 full council passed a motion "Council notes the continuing piecemeal 
expansion of residents’ parking across the city. It remains concerned that this is being 
implemented in an unplanned and uncoordinated way. It therefore calls on the Cabinet 
Member for Traffic and Transportation to draw up and publish a strategic plan for the 
management of parking in residential and non-residential areas covering a period of at least 
five years." This report presents a strategy developed for considering requests for new 
RPZs from across the City, prioritising them and dealing with potential displacement as part 
of a rolling programme.  The new Programme proposed in this report will take many years 
to implement but the precise time will depend on how many areas will require action.   

 
5.7 A Parking Strategy for Portsmouth is being developed as part of the Transforming Cities 

Bid and this is expected to be brought to a Traffic and Transportation Decision meeting later 
this financial year.   The comprehensive strategy will cover on street public parking, public 
off street parking, park and ride as well as residents' parking.   

 
5.8 For reference, the normal consultation process for RPZs is set out below: 

 
Stage 1: Informal Consultation Gathers information from residents about 

parking problems, and determines 
whether or not to proceed to Stage 2 
 

Stage 2: Formal statutory consultation 
via a traffic regulation order 

Public consultation takes place on a 
proposed parking zone. 
Recommendations are made based on 
how residents respond 
 

Stage 3: Decision by Cabinet Member The response to the proposed parking 
zone is considered at a public decision 
meeting 
 

 
6.  Resources and Workstreams 
 
6.1 Additional resources have been recruited to help deliver the Programme. An additional 

Senior Transport Planner has been recruited to the Parking Team to progress traffic 
regulation orders and parking zones, working three days a week.  In addition the level of 
resources available to support the team has also been increased, enabling two workstreams 
to operate at the same time.   

 
6.2. Current work on the Programme involves developing MD, ME, MF and HC zones. This work 

has been divided into two workstreams; one dealing with zones with prefixed with "M" and 
in the new programme it is proposed the second will work on zones prefixed with "H". It is 
proposed that when a workstream is introducing a new RPZ which has the potential to cause 
significant displacement that surrounding areas which do not have an RPZ are surveyed.  
It is further proposed that this process continues until displacement issues have been 
addressed or until the residents in adjacent areas do not want a zone.  In this way any 
displacement issues can be dealt with in a systematic way.  

  
6.3 The first workstream is looking at the "M" zones.  Work is currently progressing on MD, ME 

and MF zones.  Formal consultation on ME zone took place in July/August and formal 
consultation on MF zone is planned for November/December.  It is proposed that this 
workstream will then continue to consult on permit parking in MG, MH, MI and MJ zones 

Page 8



5 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

and beyond unless a point is reached whereby parking zones are not needed or supported 
by residents.    

 
6.4 The second workstream is currently focusing on HC zone within Baffins Ward.  If permit 

parking is introduced within HC zone there is likely to be displacement into the surrounding 
area, where residents have reported existing problems with parking congestion. The 
informal survey results tell us that the parking problems are caused by residents' vehicles 
rather than external factors such as, commuters, shoppers, tourists or parking by students. 
As such, the Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation has been revised to consider 
potential displacement into surrounding areas at an early stage.  

 
6.5 Accordingly, new zones have been identified for consultation: HD, HE, HF, HG, HH, HI, HJ, 

HK and HL. These are shown on the map attached at Appendix B.  As with the first 
workstream looking at "M" zones it is proposed that the second, simultaneous workstream 
will continue to consult on permit parking in "H" zones unless a point is reached where an 
RPZ is not needed or supported by residents.  

 
6.6 Table 2 below indicates the areas for consultation for the two workstreams with estimated 

timescales, as per the process described at paragraph 5.8 above whereby a positive 
response at Stage 1 informal survey leads to Stage 2 formal consultation via TRO.  The 
order set out below is indicative, and may need to be adjusted subject to actual 
displacement and changes in local circumstances.  

 
 
 Table 2: Programme of Consultation - Workstreams and estimated timescales 
 
I = Informal survey F = Formal TRO consultation   R= Review 
 

 Year 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 

 Quarter 1 
AMJ 

2 
JAS 

3 
OND 

4 
JFM 

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 

WORKSTREAM M              

MD Kings (Approved -
Implementation Q2 2019) 

   R         

ME Haslemere (informal complete)  F           

MF Craneswater (informal complete)   F          

MG Festing    I F        

MH Westfield    I  F       

MI Middlesex    I   F      

MJ Ringwood     I   F     

WORKSTREAM H              

Phase 1             

HC Kendal (informal survey and 
exhibitions complete; analysing data) 

 I   
F 

          

Phase 2             

HD Wallington   I F         

HI Dartmouth   I  F        

HJ Winton   I   F       

Phase 3             

HE Portchester      I F      

HG Langley       I F     

HH Shearer        I F    

Phase 4             

HF Emsworth         I F   

HK Thurbern          I F  

HL Cobden           I F 

Page 9



6 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

6.7 The Director of Regeneration is looking to recruit further resources to progress a third 
workstream. At this time, it is proving difficult to recruit people with experience of introducing 
residents parking schemes or similar traffic schemes.  As a result we will look to consultants 
to provide resources until a resource becomes available either through recruitment or 
through the completion of an existing workstream.  

 
6.8 It is more effective for consultants to look at existing zones than design new zones.  

Designing new zones requires considerably more local knowledge.  The third workstream 
is proposed below to use consultants to focus on reviewing existing zones to optimise their 
operation.  The programme may be amended in future if additional resources become 
available or circumstances change.   There are many factors, both internal and external that 
may affect the programme as set out in this report so the timeframes should be seen as 
illustrative. 

 
6.9 Table 3 below lists the areas still to be reviewed following the 2015 survey of all residents' 

zones.  Each review will consider the comments raised by residents during these surveys 
and propose changes.  These changes will be put forward as an amendment to the TRO 
and any objections will be considered at a T&T Decision meeting.    

 
6.10 As per the decision taken by Cabinet Members on 1 July 2019, the MD Kings area parking 

zone is to be reviewed by the middle of March 2020.  That review is to obtain feedback from 
those living and working within the MD Kings area parking zone, to identify any proposals 
for improvement that it may be appropriate to put forward.   

 
 
 Table 3: - Programme of Consultation in Existing Zones : Third Workstream 

  
Existing parking zones for review, to optimise their operation 

(date of commencement) 
 

KC West Southsea (2004) 
 
2015 survey: 86% keep zone 14% remove zone 
 
2017 TRO consultation to reduce free parking time (3 hrs to 2 hrs): 24 in support / 9 objections (2 
of those support 'KC permit holders only') Not approved - 2nd review agreed in 2018 Programme 
 

JF Garnier Street (2006) 
West of Fratton Road, adjacent Asda superstore 
 
2015 survey: 67% keep zone / 33% remove zone 
Petition received for 'JF Permit Holders Only' 

 

JE Fratton West (2006) 
West of Fratton Road, south of Asda superstore 
 
2015 survey: 100% keep zone / 0% remove zone 
 

GA Fratton (2001, 2004) 
North of Fratton railway station up to St Mary's Rd 
 
Following the results of the 2016 consultation and subsequent info from residents, reduction of 2 
hours' free parking to 1 hour may be proposed 
 
 
 

Page 10



7 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Existing parking zones for review, to optimise their operation 
(date of commencement) 

 

MA Beatrice Leopold (2005) 
2 cul-de-sacs south of Albert Road and MC zone with 2 hours' free parking 
 
2015 survey: 94% keep zone / 6% remove zone 
 

AB Wymering (2007, 2008) 
West of QA hospital 
 
2015 survey: 76% keep zone / 24% remove zone 
 

BD Windsor Road (2007) 
South of Cosham railway station 
 
2015 survey: 88% keep zone / 12% remove zone 
 
Petition received for 'BD Permit Holders Only' 
 

HA Baffins Road (2009) 
Baffins Rd and west to the railway line 
 
2015 survey: 57% keep zone / 43% remove zone 
 

BC East Cosham (2006, 2008, 2009) 
South-east of QA hospital 
 
2015 survey: 61% keep zone / 39% remove zone 
 

LB Somerstown (2012) 
Between Winston Churchill Ave and Elm Grove 
 
2015 survey: 69% keep zone / 31% remove zone 
 

LA North Southsea (2006) 
Between Winston Churchill Ave 
and Kings Rd 
 
2015 survey: 76% keep zone / 24% remove zone 
 

JC Hyde Park Road (2005) 
East of Isambard Brunel Rd 
 
2015 survey: 75% keep zone / 25% remove zone 
 

KB Hambrook (1999) 
Between Kings Rd and Southsea Terrace 
 
2015 survey: 97% keep zone / 3% remove zone 

KD Castle Road (2006) 
Between Kings Rd/Elm Grove and Kent Rd 
 
2015 survey: 90% keep zone / 10% remove zone 
 

FB Whale Island Way (2004) 
North of Portsmouth International Port 
 
2015 survey: 50% keep zone / 50% remove zone 

Page 11



8 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Existing parking zones for review, to optimise their operation 
(date of commencement) 

 

FC Landport North (2006) 
North of Lake Rd, east of Commercial Rd 
 
2015 survey: 88% keep zone / 12% remove zone 
 

FE Buckler's Court (2009) 
Cul-de-sac west of Gladys Ave 
 
2015 survey: 97% keep zone / 3% remove zone 
 

FF Rudmore Court (2009) 
Parking area, west of the southern end of Twyford Ave 
 
2015 Survey: 80% keep zone / 20% remove zone 
 

GB Alverstone Road (2007) 
Adjacent Fratton Park stadium, north of Goldsmith Ave 
 
2015 survey: 67% keep zone / 33% remove zone 
 

NA Priorsdean (2003) 
Cul-de-sac east of Milton Rd 
 
2015 survey: 89% keep zone / 11% remove zone 
 

BA Park Grove (2005) 
North of Knowsley Rd, Cosham 
 
2015 survey: 80% keep zone / 20% remove zone 
 

JA Portsea (2003) 
South of Queen Street, east of The Hard 
 
2015 survey: 95% keep zone / 5% remove zone 
 

 
 

Table 4 - Areas with requests for new zones in priority order for future work:  

 
Potential new parking zones 

(zone identifiers) 
(framework priority score) 

(KE) Pembroke Park (score: 12) 
Blount Rd, Chadderton Gdns, Slingsby Close, Woodville Drive 
 
2012 petition: signed by the chairpersons on behalf of 3 Residents' Associations (Lingfield Court, 
Pembroke Park, Hartford House) 
 
Included on 2015 Programme 
 

(JH) Railway View area (score: 11) 
City centre, between Arundel Street and Canal Walk 
 
4 requests since 2015 Programme 
 

Page 12



9 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Potential new parking zones 
(zone identifiers) 

 

(FJ) Stamshaw North area (score: 10) 
North of FG Stamshaw RPZ 
 
27 requests since 2015 Programme 
 

(JG) Froddington Road (score: 9) 
Fratton/Somerstown, east of Somers Road 
 
12 requests since 2015 Programme 
 

(BG) Mulberry Lane area (score: 8) 
Cosham, east and south of BF Park Lane RPZ, south of Havant Road 
 
29 requests since 2015 Programme 
 

Extension to AB Wymering RPZ (score: 7) 
Between Wymering Lane and Washbrook Road 
 
In conjunction with review of current AB Wymering RPZ operating and free parking times 
 
20 requests, 1 petition since 2015 Programme 

 

(FI) Doyle Court (score: 6) 
Service road off London Rd, Hilsea 
 
Requests recorded: 4 (of 10 properties) 
 
Included on 2015 Programme 
 

(NB) Broom Square (score: 4) 
North of the eastern end of Locksway Rd, Milton 
 
Requests recorded: 8  
 
Included on 2015 Programme 
 

Extension to BC East Cosham RPZ (score: 3) 
Between Burrill Avenue and East Cosham Road 
 
In conjunction with review of current BC East Cosham RPZ operating and free parking times 
 
8 requests since 2015 Programme 

 
 
6.11  The potential new parking zones set out in Table 4 have been prioritised by scoring them 

against the Priority Framework Matrix shown in Table 5 below. The recommended Matrix 
has been designed to help evaluate key factors relating to requests for new zones.  It is 
intended to provide a measured way of recommending the order in which work is carried 
out based on the need for a zone and the support for it. No simple system can capture 
and weight all the factors that may affect parking in an area and so it is proposed as a 
guide rather than a rule.   

 
 
 

Page 13



10 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 Table 5: Priority Framework Matrix for New RPZs 

 
Question Score 

4-20 requests received from local residents 1  

21-50 requests received from local residents 2 

>50 requests received from local residents 3 

Request received from a local residents' group/association 2 (per occurrence) 

>50% of properties in the area have no access to off-street parking 
(driveways, hard-standings, garages etc.) 

2 
 

>50% of properties in the area have a frontage of under 5 metres in 
width 

2 

Is the area located within 500m of a major trip attraction (shopping 
centre, hospital, leisure venue, educational facility, tourist area…)? 

1 (per trip attraction) 

Is the area located within 500m of a transport interchange (railway 
station, bus station, ferry terminal...)? 

2 (interchange without parking) 
1 (interchange with parking) 

 
7.  Reasons for Recommendations  
 
7.1  RPZs can improve residents' opportunities of finding a parking space near to their homes.  

In some locations residents can spend a considerable time driving around streets looking 
for a space, which creates unnecessary congestion and air pollution.     

 
7.2 Each area needs careful consideration according to the particular needs and a rolling 

programme provides the opportunity to do this.  The recommendations are presented to 
provide a systematic way of reviewing requests for zones and addressing any 
displacement issues while considering the needs on area by area basis.   

 
8. Equality impact assessment 
 
8.1 An EIA is not required at this stage as the report does not put forward any proposals 

to change restrictions and the recommendations do not have a disproportionate 
negative impact on any of the specific protected characteristics as described in the 
Equality Act 2010.  Each subsequent new proposal will be subject to public 
consultation and a separate report that assesses any impact on the Equalities 
Groups. 

 

9. Legal implications 
 
9.1 As the recommendations do not propose any further action at this stage there are no 

legal implications. Any alterations or additions to the existing traffic regulations orders 
will require approval in the usual way. 

 

10. Director of Finance's comments 
 
10.1 The resources required to deliver the programme have been met from the On Street 

Parking reserve, the additional resources required are in the region of around £40,000 
per annum, but will cease when the programme has been fully delivered. 

 
10.2 The costs to establish individual Resident Parking schemes is met from the On Street 

Reserve. The exact cost of these will not be known until the scheme has been 
designed and will be detailed when each scheme is considered at future Traffic and 
Transport Portfolio meetings. 

Page 14



11 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Tristan Samuels 
Director of Regeneration 
 
 
 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a material 
extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

Residents' Parking Programme of 
Consultation Update 

PCC website - Full Cabinet meetings - 26 
February 2019 

TECS Parking Review PCC website - Full Cabinet meetings - 26 
February 2019 

Revised Residents' Parking Programme of 
Consultation 

PCC website - Traffic and Transportation 
cabinet meetings - 31 July 2018 

Residents' Parking Zones to be 
retained/amended 

PCC website - Traffic and Transportation 
cabinet meetings - 15 July 2015 

Residents' Parking Zones to be 
removed/reduced/amended 

PCC website - Traffic and Transportation 
cabinet meetings - 15 July 2015 

 
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/  
 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Councillor Lynne Stagg 
Cabinet Member for Traffic & Transportation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



12 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
 
 
APPENDIX A: Citywide plan of Residents' Parking requests 
 

 
 
 

(End of report) 

Page 16



�� � � � � � �
� 	 
 � � 
 � � � � 
� � � � � �� �� � � � �� � �  ! " #$ % & ' ( % ) * '+ , - . / 0 1 2 ,3 4 / 5 6 - , 78 9 : ; < => ? @ ? AB ? CD E F G H FI J K LM N N O P Q R S O TUV W X Y Z V [ \] ^ _ ` _abcdefghafe i j k l m j nopqr s t u v w u s xv xy z { | } ~ � i n | � m � �� � � �� � � ~ m � � n n ~ j n � � �� } ~ i l � i | ~ l � lk � � � � � j 
 � � �k i � i � � n ~� � m �s � u � � us � u � � u ����� � � � �� �� � ¡¢£¤¥¦§ ¨ ©ª«¬­®«¯ °¯± ² ³

´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹¶ º» ¼ ½ ¾ ¼ ¿ ½ À Á Â Ã Ä Å Æ Ç Ç È É È
Ê Ë Ì ÍÎ Ï Ð Ñ ÒÒÓ ÔÕÖ × Ø Ù ~ n Ú | l ~ ~l �ÛÜÝÞ ß à áâ ã äå æ çèé ®«ê­ë®ìíî«

ï ð ñ ò ó ñó ô õö÷÷øùú û ü ý þ ÿ � � �������� 	 
� � 
� � � � ���� � � � � �
� � � � � � � �  ! "# $ %# & '( ) * +, - .. -. . /0 . 12 3 4 5 6 7 85 9 : ; < = > : ?@ A B C D E B C FG H C IJ K L M N O P Q R S TU V W X V Y Z [ W \ ] ^ _ ` a b

cdefg h õøijk ij � � l m �n � o pq rstuvwxyvz u { | � x } ~ � � � ����� L �� � � � � � � �� � � �� � � � � � � Q � N P N � � R����   ¡ ¢ £ ¤¥ ¦§¨©ª « ¬ ­ ®
¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ µ ¶· ¸ ¹ ¹ º» ¼ ½ ¾¿ À Á Â Ã Ä

Å Æ Ç È É Ê Ë Ì Ê Ë ÇÍ Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Î Ó Ô Ð Õ Ö × Ø Ù Ú Ö Û Ü ØØ Ý Þ × ßàáâãäá åäæ ç è é ê ëé ì ç íî ï ð ñòó ô õ ö ÷ ø ù ú û ÷ ù üýþÿ������� � � 	
 �� 
��� ��������� � � � � � � � � � � ���� !"#$%"&'( )g*+, - . / 01 2 3 4 5 6 78 9 : ; < = > ? @ AB C D D E FG H I J K IL M N M OP QRSTU V W X YZ [ \ X ] ^_ W Y `a bc d e fghi j klmkmno p q r s V t V s u p v s s rw x y z { | � �}~� ���� � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � �   � ¡ ¢£ � £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ £ © ª«¬ ­ ® ¯°±²°³µ́¶·̧¶¹ º » ¼½¾¾½¿ÀÁÂÃÄÄÃÅÀ ÆÇÈ É Ê É Ë Ì Í Î ÏÐ Ñ Ò ÓÔ Õ Õ Ö ×
Ø Ù Ú ÛÜÝÞ ßà áâ ã ä åæçèé ê ëì í î ï ð ñò ó v ô ò s v õ ö ÷Z q ø ù ú û ø ü ý þ ÿ �

���� �� � �� 	 
 � � 
 � � �s p ó r� � � � �� � � � � � �
��ghi j�  ! " # $ % & ' ( ! ) "* + , - .* / 0 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 : ; < = > ; ? @A BCDECFAG«H I J K L M NO P Q R ST U V T V W XY Z

[ \ ]^ _ ` ]a b cd e f gh i j k l m no p q q r s tu v w x y z v { |} ~ � � � � } ~ � � } ~� � � � � � � � ���� � � � � �������������� �� ¡ ¢£�¤¥¦ § ¨ �©ª����« ¬ ­ ® ¯ °± ² ³́ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ ¸ µ º ¶ » µ¼ ½ § ¾¿ À Á Â Ã Ä Å Æ Ç È É Æ ÇÊ Ë Ì Í Î Ï ÐÑÒÓÔÕ Ö × Ø Ù Ø ÕÚÛÜÝÞÜ ßàáâãá äåæçèæ é ê ë ìí î ï
ð ñòóôõö ì ÷ ø ù úûü ý þ ÿ � � � �� �� � � � 	 
� � 
� � � � �� � � � �

� � � � � �� �  !

" #$ % &' () (* + , - ./ 0 1 2 3 4 5 2 6 4 7 8 9 : ; < ; = ; > ?@ABC D E F G HIJ KLM NO P Q P R ST UVWXV YXZ [TU \ ] ^ _ ` ^a b c d e c b c f dg h i b j k k l b d k l d i mn � � � o �� È � � p qrst u vwx y
zá{|}~{� � � � ���������� � ^ _ � � � _���ÓÑ��Ó������ � � � � � � �� � �  ¡æ¢£ç ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ © ª�«���� ¬­ ®̄ °®

± ² ³ ´ ³ µ ¶ · ¸ ² ¹ ³ ± º » ¼ ½¾ ¿ À · ± Á ³ Â ² ¸ ÃÄ · ³ ¶ Á Å Æ Ç È É Ê Ë Ì Í Í ÎÏ Ð� Ñ Ò Ó Ô Ì Õ Ö × Ø Ù Ú ÛÜÝÞßàÝáâàãä å æç è é ê ë è ì í ¸ îïðñò ó ô õ ö ÷ øùú ûü ý þ ÿ � þ þ ý � � � � � � � � 	 
� � 
 � � �N��� �Ä � í � � è Â è � é� Á ² ¸ ² ¹ ³ ±³ Á ¶ Â · Å ¶ Æ Ä ³ ² ç Á· � � · Æ ¸ ² ¹ ³ ± Â � ê � î � � � î Â è � é� ² Â Å Á ¸ ² ¹ ³ ±� �  ! À è " # Â è � é $%& & ' ( ) * + ,+ - . / +0 12 3 4 5Â Á ² ´ ³ µ ¸ ¸ ² ¹ ³ ±
Æ ² ç Á ³ Á µ Ä Å¶ ³ µ ç Á6789 :;<=> ? @ABC=D E F G H I H J G K L M¸ ÂN O PQ R R S

T U U V W X YZ [\ ]^ _` a b c d ef g h i j k l mn o p q r s t r qu v w x yz {| } ~ � � � � � |� � � � � � �Æ Á ·� ³ Á Á � ÁÄ ¶ Å Æ� � � � � � � � � ����� � � � � � � � �� �   ¡ ¢ £ ¢ ¤ �¥ ¢ ¦ ¤ � £ �§ ¨ © ª « § ¬­ ¨ ® ¯ ® °± ²³ ´µ ´¶·¸¹ º»
¼½¾¿ À Á Â Ã Ä Å Æ Æ ÇÈ¾ÉÊËÌ½ÉÍ ÎÏÐÑÒÓÔÕÒÖ × Ø Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ù Ý Þßàáâ ã ä å æçèéê ëìí î ïðñ ò ó ô õ ö ÷ ø ù õ úûüýþÿ��� � � �� � � 	 
 �� � 
 � � � � � ����� � � � � � �� � � � ��  ! " # $ %& '( ) (* + , - . / 0 1 23 4 5 6 78 9 : ; < = 9 � � > = ?@ABCDE AF G H I J K I L M N O PQRSTUV WXSY Z[\]^_`Ua SYbcdefghi bgedjklm n o p q o rp st u v w x y uz v {|}~������ �������� ������� ���� � �� � � � � � �� �  ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥¦ §¨©©ª ¤ ª« ¬ ­ ® ¯ ­ °±� � ² � � � ³ � ´ � µ �¶ · � � � · � ¸ ´ � µ �¹º»» ´ � � ¸ � � � � � � ¸ � ¼� � � ¸ � � � � ´ � µ � ½ ½ ¾ ¿ À ÁÂ Ã Ä Å Æ Ç � ³ �� � ¸ � ³ÈÉ ÊËÉ Ì ÌÍ ÎÏÐÑÒÓÏÓ ÏÔÕÖ ×ØÙ ×Ú ÛÜ ÝÞßà Ýáâ ã ä å â æ ç è éê ë Ä ì í î ï ð ñ���ò���� óôõö÷øSRa`ùùUSYú û ü ü û ý þ ÿ ü� � � � � � � � �� � � 	 
 � � 
� � � � � �� õ � ù � � � õ �� � � � �©¤ ª ¥ ¦ § � ¤ ¥ª § � ¤ ª �  ! "  # $ !% & ' ( ) * + , , - & -. / 0 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 78 9 : 8 ; < : = > ? @ ?< > A B : < ? : =C D E D F G E H I J K L M N O � P 6 Q R� S T N U S J I I� V T W N M� � � �X Y Z [ \ X ]Z [̂ _ ` a bcdef g h i

j k l m no p q r s t u v w x yz{ | } ~ ~ � � �� � �� � � � � � � � � � � ������� ������������� �� ¡� { ~ ¢ � � � £ ¤ �| ¥ ~ { �� � ¢ � � ¤ �| ¥ ~ { � ¦ § ¨{ � � ¤ © ¥ ¥| ¥ ~ { �� ª � ¥ � � ª �| ¥ ~ { � « ¬ ­ ® ­ °̄ ±²̄ ³́µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º » ¼½ ¹ ¾ ¿ ½ ÀÁ ¾ Â ÃÄ Å Æ Ç È É Ê Ë ÌÈ Í Î Ì ÈË Ê Í Ì
¥ � Ï � £ � ¤� ~ � ÐÑ Ò Ó Ô Õ � ~ Ö ×Ø Ù Ø Ú Û ÜÝÞ ß à á{ â � ¥ � � â| ~ © � ª� } £ ª ¥ � � � ~ �ã äå ¥ ~ � ¤ æ £ � ¥ Ð | ¥ç ú è é ê ë ì í îï ð ñ ò ó ï ô õ ö ÷ ð ¤ ¥ øùúûü ùúûü ý þ ÿ � �� � � � � � � � Ð	 
 � �
� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � �� � � æ � � � � �Ð � £ ¢ � � � � æ � � � �� � �  �! " # $ %& ' ( ) * (

+ , -. /0 1 23 4 5 67 8 9: ; < = :� > ª � Ð� � © � ª? @ A B C D EFGH  ª I � � �  Ï � � � �JKLM NNOP QRM SMT R U ( V & W X W Y ' (Z ( ) [ \ ) ] X W Y ' (NM̂ RPOQ RMT R _ ` a b c a d e d f gh i j kl m n o p q rstu v w x u y z v { u z | u} ~ ~� J��������� � � � � �� � � � � � � � � ��� ��� ���� � � � � �   ¡¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦§ ¨ © ª« © ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ² ³³ ² ´ µ ¶· ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ½

¾ ¿À Á ÂÃ Ä
Å Æ Ç

ÈÉ ÊËÌÍÎ Ï Ð Ñ Ò Î Ó Ô Õ ÓÖ × Ø Ù Ù Ú × Û Ü Ý Ü Þ ß à á â ã ä å æ ä ç â è éêëì í îïð ñ ò óô õ ö ö ÷ õ ø ù ú û ù§ ü ý þ ÿ § ý ÿ� �� � � � � � � 	 
 � � 
 ��� þ � � ÿ � � � � � � � �� � ��� � � �� � �  ! " # # $ % &'() * + , - . /0 1 2 34 5 6 7 8 9� ª : ; ; < © ª ¨ � © = < ¨ > ?� © @ A B : ¬ ¨C D � EF G H I J K L M NO L NP Q R S T U Q S V Q� W X XY Xý � Z � � �� �[ \] ^ \]_àbcd e f g hi j j i k l m no p B ü � § � � ÿ q � �rs t u v w x yz { | }
~ � � � � �������� ���Z � þ § ý ÿ þ q� �� � � � � � � � ü � @ ¨ ; : ¨ ª <« © ¬ ­����������B � ü ý � � þ B  ¡ � � Z� ¢ £ � �  ¤ ¥¦§̈©ª§«¬­®°̄±²³± ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º ¶ » ¼½ ¾ ¿ ÀÁ Â Ã Ä Å ÆÇ È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î ÏÐÑ ÒÓ ÔÕ Ñ Ö× ØÙÚÛ ÜÝ× Û ÞÖ ßà áàâãäå æ ç è é ê ëì í î ï ð í ñ ò ó ô õ íö ÷ ø ù ú û ü ý þÿ � � � � � � � � � � � 	 
� � 
 �� � � � �� �

� � � � � � �� � � � �  � � ! � " � � # $ %&'(� � ) * � � � � *+ , -. / 0 1 2 3 4 0 2 5 0 6� 7 � 8 9 � : � " $ � �; < =� > ? @ A B > ? C A D E A F GHIJKGJIL M N Ì M O Ê P QR 1 2 S 3 4 T 0 2 51 U 5V W X Y Z [ \ ] _̂ àb_ cde 1 2 S 6 1 e 51 U 5Ê P Q1 U 5 2 T 51 U 5 2 T 51 U 5 2 T 5 f g h i j k l mn mo [ p q r o \s Ê O É P t Ç Ê P Qu v w x yz { | }~ � � �� � � � ��� � � � � � � � � � �� � ���������� � e 1 0 � � � �  ¡ ¢ £ � � 8 ¤ $ � � ¥� # $¦ § § ¨© ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ² ³ ³ ´ µ ¶ ·̧¹ º » ¼½ ¾ ¿ ½� � � �À ½ Á Â¾ Á» ¾ ¿½Ã Ä ÅÅ ÆÇÇ È É Ê
Ë Ì Í Î Ë Í Ï ÐÑÒÓ ÔÕÖ×ÒÕØ ] Ù Ø q \ ÚÙ ] Û ÜÝ Þ ß à á â ã ä å æ çè é ê ë ì í î ï ð ñ ò ë ó ô õ õ ö ÷ öøùúû ü ü ý

þ ¾ » ÿ�� � ¾ ¿ ½� � � � � � � �	 � � � 7 � � 
 !��
���� =; � � � � ��� ��� � � �� � �  !" # $ % e 4 2 & 6 1 e 5' ( ) *+ , - . 3 5 1 / 4 2 & / � 5 e 60 1 2 34 5 6 7 8 9 : ;< = : 8 >?@A B C D E F E B GHI J K L M N O J P Q RSTUVSW X Y
Z [ \ ] ^_ ` a b c d e f d eg h i j k l m no p q r s t uv» ¹½ wxy z{| } ~ | � �� � � � � � ��� � � � � � �� � � �� � � � � � � �º ¹» �¾ Á �½ � Á » � � � �   ¡ ¢ �£ ¤ ¥ ¦ §̈¦¦© ª«¥¬ ­® ¯ ° ± ² ³ ²´ µ ¶ µ · ¸¹ º » ¼ ¹ º ½¼ » ¾ ¿À ÁÂ Ã Ä Å

Æ Ç È É Æ Ê Ë ÌÍ Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô Ð ÎÕ Ö × Õ Ø Ù Ú Û ÔÜÖ ÝÞßÇ à á â ã ä È å â æç è é ê ë ì í î ï ð ñÔ Ó ò ó ô Í õÍ ö ÷ ø ù øú û ü ý þ ÿ � �

� � � � ��� 	
 � � 
 � � � � � �� � � �� � � � � � � �  ! ! " # $ % &'()(� "* + , , - . / 0 1 23456 7 89 :; < = ; > ? @ A B @ C DE F G F H F IG JK L M N O P Q O R ST U V WXYZ[ \]_̀̂
abc de fghfhijklijmn o p p q r s s p t uv w x y z { | { } v ~� U T � � U � � TT U V W � � � � � � � � � � � � �� U � � � T U U �V � � � � �� � � � � � � � � TT U V W� � � � � � �� �� � � � � �  ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¢¥ ¦ § ¨ © § ª« U � � ¬ ­ � � � W� V � �®¯ ° ± ²³ ° ´µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ À ¾ » Á ÂÃ Ä Å Æ Ç È É Æ Ê Ë Ì ÍÎ Ï ÐÑÒ Ó ÍÔ ÓÕ Ö ×ØÙ Ú Û Û Ü Ý Þ ß à áâ ã ä å æ ã ç è é èê ë ì Ý ë Û à í îï íï ð ñò ó ôõ ö ÷ ø ù ú ù û öü æ ý þ ä ÿ ã � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � � � �
 �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �  ! "# $ %& '()* +,- )( -. / 0 / 0 1 / 2 1 3 4 3 5 1 6789: ;<=<>=?>@A B C D E F D G HI J K L MNOPQ ORSTUVWX;Y;Z [ \ ] [ ^ ^ _ ` ab cd ef ghi jT klmÑÍ n Ð o p Ío q Í ÔÓ r s t t u vw xy z { z | } ~ � } { ������������ �� ��� ��� ��� � � � ������� � À » ��   ¡¢ £¤ ¥¦ § ¨ ¨ © ª « ¬ ­ ª ® ¯°± ²³́µ¶·̧± ·¹ º»R¼ ½Rj¼kR TU Qk ¾¿OÀT U ÁÂ Ã ÄÅÆÇÈÉÇÊËÌÇ ® ­ § ¯Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ó Ö× Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ý Ø Ü Þ ßàáââãäåâ æçèéêëì íî ï ð ñ ò ó ôõö ÷ øù ú û üý þ ÿ ����� ����	
���
���
��� � � � � � � � �� � � ��� ! " # $% &' ù ( ) * + , ö ù û ö ÷ - ö. � / � � 0 � � � �  1 � 0 / 2 3 � 04 5 6 7 8 9 : 8 ; < = >?@ABCDEFGHEIJKLMÉÇÊËÌÇ NKMMKOÆLPQRST UQVWXRYQT ZÆP[K\]ËÌÇLP_̂̀abcdef ZÆMÊLKgÉKLPh i j klmnopqrs rqms tuvwxyz{ v|}~ � � � � � ������������������ ��

� � � � � �� � � � � �� ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦§ ¨ © ª« « ¬ ­®¯ ° ± ²³ ´ µ¶ · ¸ ¹º»¼ ½ ¾ ¿ ÀÁ Â Â Ã Ä Ã Å Æ ÂÇÈÉ ÊËÉÌ ÍÎ ÏÐÑÒÓÔ Õ Ö × Ø Ù × ÚÛ Ú Ö Ü Ý Þ ß Üà ß áâãäáåæç è é êë ì íî ï ð ñ
òóôõ ö÷ ø ù ú ûüýþ ÿ�� � �� � � � � 	 
 Ø Þ � à � 
 Þ � � 
� � � � � ��� �� Þ × Ü � � Ø Ù � 
 � ��� � � !" #$ % & ' () * + ,

- ./0 1 2 2345 
 6 7 8 9 : ;< = > ?@AB C D E F G HIJ K LM NOPQ RÚ Ü S 
 Þ � � × Ú T U VW X Y Z Y[ \ ] ^_ ` a b� cde fg hi j k l m no p q rs t u v wx y yz {| } ~ } � �| � � �� � � ������������� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¡ ¥ ¦ §¨ © § ª« ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ­ ² ³ ´ µ ¶ · ³ ¸¹ º » » º ¼ ½ ¾¿ À Á Â Ã Á Ä Å ÆÇ È ÉÊ Ë Ì Í Î Ï Ê Ð ÑÒ Ó Ô ÕÖ×ØÙ Ú Û Ü Ý Þß Ü à á â ã ä å æ çèéêëì
í î ï ðñ ò ó ô õ ö ò÷øùúûüýþ ÿ � � � � � � � � �� 	 
 � � 
 �� � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �� � � � �  ! " � ! #� � $% & ' (& )*+ , - . /0 10 2# � 3 4 5 � � " � �� �6 � � 7 8 9 6 � : 8 9 ; < => !   ? � � � # � �! � @A B C D E F A B G E

H I J K H L M K I N O P Q R R S TU VW X Y TZ [ \ ]^ _ ` a bc d e fc g h f i ij k l m k no p q r s q
t u v v wx yz { | } ~ �� � � ���� � � ����� � � � �  � � ? �! � � #� �� � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ��   ¡ ¢£ ¤¥ ¦ § ¨© ª « ¬­ ® ¯° ±² ³ ´ µ ¶· ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ½ ¾¿ À Á Â Ã Ä ÅÆ Ç È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ ÑÒ Ó Ô Õ Ö × ØÙ Ú Û Ü Ý Ý ÚÞ ß

à á â ã â ä àå æ å ç è æ é ê ë åì íî ï ð ñòóôõ ö ÷ ÷ ø ` ùúûüý þÿ�������� � � K M � N Oî ï ð ñ	 
 � � 
 �� � � �
� � � � � � � � � � ������� � � ! "  ! " ! # $ % & ' ( ) * % %' + & ,-. /0123 456778 9:; < = >? @ A BC D E FGHI JK L MK LK N O P QR S T UV W X YZ [\ ] ^ _ ` a b c d d ea bf g h i j k l m _ na bo p q rs t u v w x t y u z t{ | } ~ � � {� � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � o � � �   ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ §©̈ª«©̈ª«¬ ­

® ¯ ° ± ² °³ ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ À Á Â Ã Ä Å Æ ÀÇ È É ÊË ÌÍ Î Ï Ð ÑÒ ÏÓ Ô Õ Ö× Ø Õ Ù Ø Ú Û Ü Ý Þ Û ß àáâãä åæç ãèé æ êë ìíî ëïì ðñò
ó ô õ ö ÷ ø ù ú û ü ú ÷ ý þ ÿ � � � � � ÿ � �����	 
 � � 
 � � � ����� � � � � � � � � � � ��  ! " # $% & ' ( ) * + ( ), - . , / 0 1 , 2 3 4 56 7 8 9 6 7 : ; < =

>?@ @A@ç BCå æå ADEF Aæå B G H I J G H KL M N H O P º Q ¾ R ¿ ¹S T U V T U U W X T Y Z [ \] \ ^ _ ` a b ][cde ef g eh fdijklmnjoompqr s t u v w xyz{|}~����������������� ���� �� ��� �� �� � ������������  ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ©̈ ª««̈ ¬ ­®̄�� ��� °�� ± °�²³́ µ¶ ë· ð̧¹ ìð ëº» ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ À Á�� �Â ���� �± �� �Ã Ä Å Æ Ç È É Ê Ë Ë Ê ÌÍÎ Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö Ó × ÑÎ Ø ÙÚÎ Û Ù Ü Ï ÖÎ ÝÞ ß à á â ã ä å æ ç è æ å éê ë ì í î í ï ðñ òóôõ ôö ÷ ø ù ú ûü ý þ ù ú ÿ������� � � 	 
 � �
 � � � � � �� � � � �� � � � � � � �  ! " # å $ % ç & æ '( æ ç $ % ' )* ã ) % ä +, ã - ç .è / å å / æ &, ã - ç .0 / 1 + æ ç $, ã - ç . Q 2 3 4 5 ¾ Q ¸ ¾ 5 2 ¿
6 7 89 : ; < = > ?; @ A B C D E C F G H Ipnj JKLMNO PQ R S T U V W X V YZ [ \ ] [ ^ ] Z _` a b c d e ` a f b# g g h # i , jk # lm n o p q r o s t u v w t x y z { | } ~ � � � �� � ������ ��� �� � k g j 0, � � 0 �� � k g j 0# � j i � j �� ���� � � � �� � � � � �   � ¡ ¢� £¤i � 0 � ¥ ( # � j# � j i � j� h , � � 00 � # ¦ §̈© ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ±« ° ² ³ ± ´ ³¦ � ¦ g j l0 � # ¦¦ � � ( g # µ0 � # ¦ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º» �¼½ ¾ ¿ À Á Â¿ Ã Á ½ , # � ¥ j 0 h i ( � � iÄ g # , jh i � h i , h � g jk # l� ¥ j Ä # 0 Å k # lÆ Ç È Éþ Ê ý þ Ë Ì Í Î ´ ±® Ï ± Ð Ñg h Ò j � 0 j j� h j kÓ Ô Õ Ö Ô × Ø Ù × Ú Ó Û Ü ÝÞ ß à á á â ãä å æ ç è é ê ë é ìh g g � µ � 0 h � � µ¦ 0 h � j, ¥ � 0 , ¥k # líîïðñòóôõö÷ ø ù ú û ü ýþÿÿMJKLM N� ���� ����� ��� �	 
 �� 
 � 
����
����
�� � � � � � � � �� � �  ! " #$ % � & ' ( ) * + , - + ./.012034405 6 7 8 9 : ; < =7 > :? @ A B CC D E F G H H FI J K LMNOMPQNRST UVWXYZV [\Y]W ^ _ ` a b c ` d` ef g d d g h i b ` d ^ ` ej k lmnop oqrstu v wxyz {|} ~ � � � �� �� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �   ¡ ¢£ � ¤ � ¥¦ § ¨ © ª« ¬ ­ ® ¯ °±²³ ´ µ¶·̧¹º¹¶¶»¼ ½̧µ¾¹¾¿ À Á ÂÁ À Ã Ä

Å Æ Ç È É ÊË Ì Í ÎÌ Ï Ð Ê Ñ ÐÒ Ó Ô Õ Ö ×Ø Ù Ó × Ú ÓÛ Ü Ý Þ ß Ü Ü à á ß âã á Ü ä å æ ç èé êëìíîïíðñòó ô õ ö÷ ø ù ú û ÷ üý þ ÿ �� � � � � � � � � � 	 
 �� � 
 
 � � � � � � �� � � �� � � �� � � �  ! ! " # $ % & ! ' () " * + , -. / 0 1 2 03 4 4 3 5 6 7 8 9 : 7 7 ; < = > # ? ! ) % ( ) " @ A B B C D E @ F D G BH I J K L M N OP JQ R S T US R V R W X Y Z [ \ ] Z ^ ^ _ `a b c d ef a g h i j kl m n op q r s t u v w x q� � � � y z { | }~ �� � � �� � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� � n � � m �l o� � � � � � � � � �� ��   ¡ ¢ £   ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ © ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ¬ ² ³« ´ µ ¶· ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ¼½ ¾ ¿ À Á Â Ã Ä À Å ÆÇ È É ÊË Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò ÓÔÕ Ö× ØÙ Ú Û Ü Ý Þ ß à á â ã ãä å æ ç è é ê ë ëì í î ï ð ñ ò òó ô õ ö ó ÷ ø øù ú û ü ý þ ÿ �� � �� � � � � 	 
 �� 
 � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � ! " # $ % & '( )*+ , - . / 01 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 2: ; < => ? @ A B @ C D E E F G H IJ K LM N O P Q RSTUS VWXYZ[\ ] ­ ³^ _ ú ` ab c d ef g hi j � k l �m n o p q r s t u v w ux y sz { | } ~ � | � � { � � { ���������� � � � � � � � � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � �   � ¡ ¡ ¢ � � � �� � � � £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¥ ¤¨ © ª ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ® ­ ± ² ³ ´µ ¶ · � ¡ ¸ ¹ ¹ µ ¡ ¹ � ¢
º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¼ ¿ À Á ÂÃ Ä Å Æ ÇÈÉÊ Ë Ì Í Î Ë Ï¼ ¸ Ð ¾ Ñ Ò ¸ ½ ¾Ó Ô Õ Ö × Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ý Þ ß àá âãá äå æ æ* çè ' éé * ' ê ë ì í í î ï ð ñ ò ð ó ê ô õ ö ÷ ø ùú ûü üý û þ ÿ� þ �� � � � � � � �þ	 � � 
 � �
 
 �� � � � �� �� � � � ��� c� � � c � � � � � ! 4 " # 9� � $ �% & '( ) â* åæ æ + , - ./ / 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 78 9 :; < =5> ? @A BC D E D F GH I J K LM N O P Q R Q S MTU V T WX Y Z Y V[ \U ] W ^ ] Y V³ ´ ° ° ± ´ _ ° ® ³ ´­ ` a b c d a L e f K Lg h i g h j k l hm  � � n o p � q rs t u vw x y z { | | }~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � ��� � � � � � ��� �  d¡ � e e c �¢£ã¤ å æâ å¥ 	ÿû ¦ §̈© ª «¬ ­ ® « ¯° ± ² ° ³ ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º » ¼» ½ » ¾ ¿ À Á Á ¾Â ÃÄ Å Æ Ç È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö Ô × Ò Ø ÙÚ Û Ü Ý Þ ß à t á â ss vã ä å æ ç è é ê ë ì í î° ï ð ð ì ñ ï ò ê è ó ï¯ ë ô õ î ¬ ë ì ñ ïö ÷ ø ù ú ø û û üý þ ÿ � ý � � � � � � þ � � ÿ � �	 
 � � 	 
 � ���� ���� �� � � � � � �� � �  � ! ! " # $ %& ' ( ) $ *+ , * ( - . $ $ */ 0 1 2 3 4 56 7 8 9 : ; < = > ? @ A BC D E F G F H CI GJ K LM N O L P Q RS ½ ¸ T » ¹ U ¸ V W X W Y Z[ ù ø ö \ [ ] ø û ^ _N L àbcdef g h i h j k � �l m n op q r s t u t v w rx y z { | y } y ~ � � ����� � � � �� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � �� � � � � � � � �  A �¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ ¢ ¤ §¨ © ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ±² ³ ´ µ ¶ · ¸¹ º» ¼ ½ »¾ ¿ À Á Â Ã ÀÄ Å Æ Ç È È É Ê ËÌ Í~ � � � û Î [ üÏ ÐÑ Ò Ó Ô Ó ÏÔ Õ Ö ×ØÙÚ

Û Ü Ý Ü Þ ß àá â ã á â äå æç æ è é ê ë âé è á ìí î ï ð ñ ò ó ô õ ö ÷ ø ôù ú û ü ý þÿ� � � � � � � � �� �� � � � 	 � 
 � � 
 � � 
 � � 

 � � ü û � � � � � � � � � �

�������� !" #$%&'("()!*+ , - . , / 01 2 3 4 2 5 3 67 8 9 : ; < : =
>?@A BCDEFGHI JKLMNL OPQRSTU?>AVBCWXCYBDYECZ[\ì ë ] ^ ^ _ á é ë ç á ` a b c d e f e g chijklmkn opqrps

t u v v w x y z { | } ~ � � |� � � � � � � � � � � � �ë â � � æ â ë ç áå æ � � � � � � � � � � �� � �s � � r � � r ����  ¡ ¢ £ £ ¤ ¥ ¡¦ § ¨ © ª « ¬ ¬­ ® ¯ ° ± ² °³ ´ ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¸ ¹º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ » » À Á ÀÂ Ã Ä Å Æ ÄÇ È É Ê Ë Ë ÌÍ Î Ï Ð Í Ñ Ñ ÒÓ Ô Õ Ö Õ × ØÙ Ú Û Ü ÝÞ ß à á â ã äå æç è é ê ë ì í ë ì î í ï ð ð ñ ò ò î í
ó ô õ ö÷ øù ú û ü ý þÿ�ù� � � � � � � �� � 	 
� Ë � Ì


���������
������ ����������� ! " # $ % & $ '����()*+ ,-.-/01.23 4 5 6 4 5 #"77()!* 89:;9:<=;:>

? @ A B B A CD E F E G H I JK L M N O P Q P R ST U V W X Y U U Z[ \ ] ^ _ `a O b Q c d e b b R Q R fghij kl m no p q r stuvwx y z { | } ~� � � � � �� �� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � �� � �� � � � � � � � � � � �  ¡ ¢ £¤ ¥ � ¦ § ¥ ¥ ¨© ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯° ±² ª³ ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹º »¼½¾¿ À Á Â Ã Ä Å Á ÆÇ È É Ê È Ë Ì Í Î Ï È ÊÐ Ñ Ò ÓÔ Õ Ö × Ø ÙÚ Û Ü Ý Þ ß à á âã äå æ å ç èé ê ë ì í é î ï ð ñ ò ó ô õ ö ÷øù ú û ü ý þÿ � � � � � � � �� � � 	 
� � � 
 � � � � � � � � �� � � � � �� �
� � � �  ! "  # $ %& ' ( )* + , -. / 0 1234564 + * 7 8 9:;<=>: ?@ABCA D E F G E HI J K L M N O OP Q R S T U V W &X Y Z [ \ Z] ^ _ ` a b b c d e f gh iX Y Z [ \ Zjklmno p q r s X t u v w x v w y z { | } ~ � �� � � � �� � � � � � � � � Ò Ð � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � �  ¡ ¢ £ ¡ ¤ ¥¦ § ¨ § © ª « ¬­ ® ¯ ° ± ² ³ ² ³

µ́¶́µ·̧¹º»¼ ½ ¾ ¿ Àz Á Â ~ Ã Ä Å ~ } ÁÆ Ç È É Ê ËÌÍÎÏÐÑÌÒÓÔÍÎÏÕ Ö×Ø ÙÚÛÜ Ù ÖÝ Þ ß àá Ã â | Å ãäåæ çèç é êë ì í îï � � � ð ñ ò � ó ñ ô �õ ö ÷ø ù úûüýýþÿ� � � � � ��� � 	 
 �

� 
 � �� 
 � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ��  ! " #  ¨ $ % ©& ' ( ) * + * , - . /
0 12 3 4 5 67 8 9 8 : ;< = >< ? @ A< A BC 3D E F FGH IJK L M N O P N Q R Q L L M NN R S O T L M N U Q R NV W X X Y W Z [ \ ] W ^ _ W` a b c d e f ghi jklm n o p q r ns t u v w x y z { x u s| } ~ � | � � � � � � � � � � � � �� �� � � �

� � � � � � � � �� � � � �� �   ¡ �¢ � � £ �¢ �¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ ¤ © ª« ¬ ­ ® ¯ ® ° «� ± ² �³ ´ µ¶ · ¸ ¹ º» ¼ ½ » ¾ ¿ À Á ¼Â Ã Ä Å Â Æ Ç ÇÈ É Ê Ë Ê Ì Ê Í Î Ï Ð Ñ ÏÒ Ó Ô Õ Ò Ô Ö × ØÙÚ Û Ü Ý Ü Þ ß� �à á â ã í ì í ä ë åì æ ç è é êë ì í îï ð ñ ò ó ô õ ö ÷ø ù ú ø û üý þ ÿ � þ � �� � � � � � 	 
 � � 
 � � �� � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� �� � ��  � � � � ! " #$ % & ' ( ) * +( ,-. / 01. 2345 6789 : ;< =>?@ABC D D E F G H I J K L M N M K O P QR ST U V W X Y Z U X [0\]_̂ 2 ` a b c b da efg h ij g g k
lm n no p q r sttu v wx y z { | } ~ � ~ ��� � �� � � � � � � � � �� �� � � � � � � �� � � � � � �� �   ¡ � ¢£ ¤¥ ¦ § ¨ © ª� « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ¬° ¬ ± ²³ ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º » ¹ ¼ ·½ ¾ ¿ ¿ À ÁÂ Ã Ä Å Æ Ç È É Ê Ê Ë Æ Ì� Í Î Ï ²° ¬ ± ² Ð Ñ Ò ÓÔ ÕÖ × Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ü ÝÞß àá â á ã ä å æ á ç èé ê ë ì í î ï ð ñò ó ô õö ÷ ø ù úû ü ; ý þ ÿ � þ� � � � � � � � �� 	 
 � � 
 � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �  ! " # � $ % & ' () *

+ , , - . /. / 0 1 23 4 5 6 7 89 : ; < = > ? @A B C D E F B G H I I JK L M N OP Q R S T U V W XY Z [ \ ] ^ [ _ ` ab c d def g h i jk lm n o p q r s t u vwxy z { |} ~�
� � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ����������� � � ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥¦§̈©ª«¬­®¯

° ± ² ³ ³ ´ ² µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ ¶ º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ À Á Á Â Ã Ä ÅÆ ½ Ç È Á Â À Ä É Å Â Ã Ä ÅÊ Ë Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ë Ñ Ë Ò Ó Ô Ñ Ë Õ ÍÖ × Ø × Ù Ú Û Ü ×Ý Þ ß ß à á â ã Þä å æ æ ç è éê ë ì í î ï ð ñ òó ô õ ö ÷ ø ù ùú û ü ý þ ÿ ü � � û � þ � û ý����� 	
��

���§©���̈ � � � �� � �� �� � � õ � õ ô ô  õ !" # $ % & '( ) * + , - . / * 0 12 ` 3 \ 4 5 ^ ^ 3 ` a6 7 8 9:;<=><? @ A A B C D E FGHH I J K L M N N O P Q R Q S T T UV W X Y V Z [ W \] ^ _ ` a ] b _ bc d e f g h i h i j k l m n j
o p q r s t r u vq vwx y z { |} ~ � � ���������� �� � � �� � � � � � ��� � � � �� � � �� �     ¡ �¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ ¥ © ª« ¬ ­ ®¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ µ ¶ · ² ¸ ¸ µ ¹ ²º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ À Á Â Ã ÄÅ ÆÇ È É ÊË Ì Í ÎÍ Ï Ð Ñ Ò ÓÔÕ Ö×ØÙÚ ÛÜ ÖÝ ÞßÔ àÖÕ ßà á â ã ä å æ ç è é êæ ë è êì í î ï ð ñ ðò ó ô õ ö ÷ ó øù ú û ü ý þ þ û ýú ÿ þ � ú ü � ������ �� �	
� �
������� �� � � � � � � � � � �� �� �� � � � � �  ! � �"#$%&''$& #( ) * + ,- . / . 0 1 2 3 4 0 56 78 9 : ; < = > > ? @ AB C D ó C E øó C E øF G H I J K G L K M NO PQ R S T U V W X Y Z[ \ ] ^ _ \` a b cd e f gh i j k lm n o p q rs t uv w x y z { | } ~ � �� � � � � � � � � � � � ���� � � � � � �� � � � � � �� � � � � �� �     � ¡¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨   © ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ °

± ²³ ´ µ ² ¶ · ¸ · ¹ º » ±¼ ½ ¾ ±¿ À Á Â ÃÄ Å ÆÇ ÈÉ Ê ËÌÍÎ Ï Ð ÑÒ Ó Ô ÕÖ × × Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ù Ý Þ ßà á â ã
äåæçèéê ëç ì í î ï ï íð ñ ò ó ô òõ ö ÷ ø ø ùö ø ú û üýþÿ � �� � � � � � � � � 	 � 
� � 
 � � � � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � �� �  !" � 
 � # � � $ %& ' ( )* + , - . ,/ 0 � � � 0 1 2 3 45 6 7 8 9 : ; < = = > ?@ ;A B C D B E F G A H H GI J K L K J M N OP L Q R S T U V W ST V X Y

Z J P [ N \I N K ]N ^ _ ` a b c d e f g h i e j h kl m n o m n p l qr s nt uvw x y z{ | } ~ �� � � �� � � � � �� � � � � � �� ��� � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � �  ¡ ¢£¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨© ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ° ¬ ² ³´ µ ¶ ·̧ ¹¹ · º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿À Á ÂÃ Ä ÅÆ Ç ¨ ¥È É£ ¥ Ê
Ë Ì Í Îq p l q Ï Ð Ñ ÒÓ r Ò Ô Õ Ö× Ø Ù Ú Û ÜÝ Þ ß à á âã ä åæç è é ê ë ì í î ï ðñ ò ó ô õ ö ÷

ø ù ú û û üý r m m þ Óÿ m� � � � � � � �� � 	 
 � 	 � 
 � � � � � � � ������ � � � � � � ��  ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * +, - . /0 1 2 34 5 6 7 8 9 : ; 9 < 9 <= > ? @ ABCDE FGH IJK CL M N O PQ R S T UV W V X = Y Z
[ \ ] ]^ _ ` `a � b c � d � �e f g h i j k l m n i m l f o p q r s t q p r u v wx � � y z { | } ~ �� � � � � � � � � �� �� � � � � � � �� �� � � � � � �� ����  ¡¢£ »À ¤ À ¥ ¦À » ¼ £ ¼ § Á ¨ © ª« ¬ ­ ® ¯° ± ² ³ ´ ± µ ¶·̧¹º»¼½ ¾¿ÀÁÂÃÄÅÆ ÇÆÈ É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï É � Ð Ñ �Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö × Õ Ø Ù Ú Ûn i j i m g l m l Ü Ý k m o

Þ ß à á â ã ä å æ çè é ê ë ì íî ï ð ñ ò óô õö ÷÷ øù ú û ü ý þ ÿ� � � � � � �� �	 
 � 
 � 
 � � 	 � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � �� �  ! " # $ % &' ( ) * + , ( - . / 0 1 123 45 6 7 8 9 : ; < = ;< >? @ A B C D E) ( F ,G H I J K L M NO P Q R P S T U V W XY � Z [ \ � Y � Z� �]�]� �  ¡ ¢ ^ _ ` a b c d e fg � h � i � j k l � � �m n o pq r s t u vw 5 xy 6 wz { |� � � Y � � }� �~ � �� � �� � � � � � � � � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
����� j � �   ¡ z ¢ £ ¤ | ¥¢ ¤ ¦ § ¨ ©ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ¯ ² ³ ´ µ ¶¡ · ¸ ¤ | ¹ º ¡» ¸¼ ½ ¾ ¿ À Á ÂÃ À Â Ä Å Æ

Ç È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï Ð ÑÒ Ó Ô Õ Ö × ØÙ Ú ÛÜ Ý Þ ß àá âã ä
å æ ç è é ææ êå ç ë å ì é í î é ææ ê y x 8 5ï ð ñ òó ô õ ö÷øùúû ü ý þ ÿ � � � �� � � � � 	 
 	 � � �� 
 � � � � 
 � �� � � � � � �� �� � � � � � �� �� � � �  � � !" # $ " % & '( � ) * * ) Z + � � }� � � � \ , - . / 0 123 � 4 
 5 6 37 7 5 8 9 : ; ; < => ? @ A B C ? D ( E } \ � ) Z +} � Z � � � �F G H H I J K L M N O P Q R ST U L VW X Y Z [\ ] [ ^ _ [

` a b c defgh i j kl m no p q rs t u v wx y z {| } ~ � � � � � �
� � � �

� � � �� ��� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � �   ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ §¨ © ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ²³ ´µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º ¸ » ¼½ ¾¿ À Á ¾Â ÃÄ Á Å Â Æ Ç È É Ê Ë ÌÍ Ê ÎÏ Ð Ñ ÎÒ Ó ÓÔÕÖ× Ø ý ü Ù � � ý ÿ ÿÚÛ ÜÝ Þ ß àà áâãäå ß à Û æçèé ê ë ì í ê î ïë é ð ñ òó ô õ ö ÷ ø õ ù ô ú õû ü ú õ ýþÿÿ ÿ�� � � � � � � � � 	 
� � 
 �� � � �� � � � � � �� � � � Ç � É É Ë Í � É�� Í È ! " Ë Ì� É # $ % & ' %( ) í * + , í ë ) - .- í/ 012 3 4 4 5 6 4 76 8 4 9 :Ë Ç ; È Í Ê<=> ? @ A B C B D BE F G HI J ? ? B D K ? B LM NOP NQ R ST U V WXY Z [ \ ]_̂ ` ab _ c ^d e fg e e h i jkl m n o p n q m ¬ r st u v w x y z { x | w } x~ � , - . � , � � �- � � � �� � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � ;� �� � � � � � � � � �� �� � � ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦§ ¨ © ª « ¬ ­ © ®¯ ° ± ² ³ % & ´ µ % ¶ · % ¸´ ¹ º»º¼½¾¿¿� ;

À Á Â Ã Ä Å ÆÇ È É Ê Ë, Ì Í � � �- � � � � Î Ï Ð ÑÒ ± ° ° Ó Ô Õ ² Ö ¯ ×ØÙÚÛÜÝÞß à á â ã äå æçèé êëì íîíïðñò ó ô õö ÷ ø ù ú ú û ö üýþÿ�ÿ��ÿþ ���� � � � 	 
�� 
� ��� � � � � � �� � � � �������� !"# $ %& ' ( ) * + , - . / 0 1 1 / 23 2 4 5 3 26 1 5 2 2 1789: ; < = > ? @ <A = ? B <C D E F G D H IJKLM N O P Q R S T RU NV W X YZ[\]^_ `a b c d de f g h i j kl g i em n o p q r s tu vw x y z { |} ~ � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � �� ��� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� �   ¡ ¢ ¢ £ ¤¥ ¦§ ©̈ª« ¬ ­ ®¯° ± ² ³ ´µ ¶· ¸ ¹ º »¼ ½¾ ¾ ¿ ÀÁÂÃÄÄÅÆÁ ÂÁ Ç È É H ÊË Ì Í ÎÏ Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö×Ø××ÙÚÛÜÝ Þßàá â ã ä å æ ç è é ê ëìí îíï ð ñ ò ó ô õ ö ÷ ð ô ô ÷ø ù ú û ü ý úþ ÿ� � � �� �� � �	
�� 
 � � � � � � � � � 
 � � �� � ����� � �  ! " #$ % & '( ) * + , - . /0 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 : ; <= > ? @ = A B C D E FG H I J J H K L M N O P Q RS T U V W X V Y Z[ \] ^ _` a b cd e f g h h ij k l m n o p q r n r o s t u o r v wxyz{ X | } T X X ~ Z � � � W� � � � � ��� � � � �� � � � �� ý û � ú ù � � �� � � � � � � �� � � � � � �� � �  ¡ ¢ £   ¡£ ¤¥ ¦ û ü û ø � �§ � ¨ © ª « � �� ¬ � � ­ � � © � ª ¨ �� ­ ® �
¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ µ¶ · ¸ ¹ º »¼ ½¾ ¿ À ÁÂ Ã Ä Å Æ Ç È ÉÊ ËÌ Í Î Ï Ð ÌÑ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö × Ø Ù Ú ÛÜ ÝÞ ßà á â ã äåæ çè é éê ë ì í î ï ð í ñ ò ó§ © � ® � ¬ � ®� ¬ô õ ö ÷ øö ù ú û ü ù ÷ ô ý þ ÿ� � � � � �� � � � �	 � 
 � � 
 � �¬ � � � ¬ ¨ � ­ ©� ¨ � ª � � � �� � � � � � � �� � � � ��  ! " # $  % & "' ( ) * + , '- . ( /0 1 2 3 4 5 6 78 9

: ; < = > ? @ AB C D EÒF G H I J G K J F GL M NO P Q R S S T UV WX YY
Z [ \] ^ § « � � � � _ ª ¨ �� ¬ ¨ � ­` a b c d e a f­ ¨ � �� « © © ­ g � �h i jk l m k h n o p q r s t uv wxy z { | | z} } � ­ � � ¬ ­ © �� ¬ � � ­~������~ � � � �� � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � �� � © � � � ¬ ¬� � �� � � � � � � � �  ¡¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨© ª « ¬ ­­ ® ¯ ° ¬ ­ ± ² ± ³´ µ ¶· ¸ · ¹ º »¼ ½ ¾¿ÀÁÂÃÄÄÅÆ ÇÈ ÉÊ ËÌ Í Î Î Ï Ð Ñ Ð Í Ò Ó Ï ÔÕ Ö× Ø Ù Ú ÛÜ Ý Þ Û Ü Ýß à á Ýâ ª « ã © ® ä ­å æ ç è¯ ä ç è ç ä¬ ­ é ê ë ì í î é í ï ð ñ ò ó ô ô ò õ ö m ÷ jl ø k ù øú ú û ü ý þ ÿ �� � � � � � � �� � � � 8 � � �	 
 � � 
 � M N �� � � � � � � � �

���� � � � � !"© æ « # ä ã$ % & & ' ( )* + ' , - & ) . & / / 0 1 23 4 5 t p 6 7 4 q p 8 9:;<9=>? @ A B C D D E F G H EIJKL M N M O L M N M P QRSTRU V W X Y W X Z [ \ Z ]^ _ ` a b c d _ e ^ e ` f g hi j k l m n o p q r s p t uvwxwyz {|}~��������|���� ���� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � �  ¡¢¢£â æ ­ ­ â ç ª ä ­ ¤ ¥ ä ¬ ­¦ § ¨ © ª « ¬ ­ ®m n q¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ µ ² ¶ ·¯ ¥ ¸ ¹ â ª « ã ¬ ­º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ÀÁÂÀÃÄ ÅÆ Ç È É ÊË Ì Í Í Î ËÏ Ð Ñ« ® ä ­ ¤ ¯ ä ® ® ¹¸ âÒ Ó Ô ÕÖ ×¬ ­ æ ¸ ¤ ª © ç â¬ ­ ä ç ç ­@ A Ø B CÙ Ú Û Ü Ý Þ ß Ü à á� âãä åæç è é ê ë ì í î ï© èð ñ ò ð ó ó ô õ ö ÷ øù úû ü ý þ ÿ û �� � � � � � � � � �� 	 
 � � 
�� �� � � � � � �� � �� � � � � � � �  � ! � " #$ % & ' ( ) * +, - . / , . 0 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 : ;< = > ? @ A B C DE F G F H IJ EK B = L M N O P @Q ? R S T U VW X Y Z [ X \ ] ^ _ ` a b cd e f g h di j k l m n o pq r s t u v r %% w s r r wxy Y z X { | } ~ Y Yt Y��� � � � �� � � � � ������ �} [ � � � ` � {^ _ � � � � � � � � � �÷ ø� � �     � ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ © ¦ ¦ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ °± ² ³ ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ½ ¾¿ÀÁÂ Ã Ä Å Æ¬ ­ ÇÈ É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö ×ØÙÚÛÜÝÙÞ ß à á Þ â ß ã à äå æ çè éê ë ì í èì îï ð ñ ò ï ó ñ ôõ ö÷ øùú ûü ý þÿ� � � � � � � � � �� � �	 
 � � 
��� � � � � ���� ���� � � � �  ! " #

$ % &' ()t * + } s * ,t v - % r . . /0 1 � 1 2 � 3" #4 5 6 7 6 8 9 :; < = >? @A B C D B A E F G H IJK L M N OP Q R S T U

VWX Y Z [ \ ]^ _̀ ab cd̀ e d fg h ij k k l h m n k o p pq rs t u s v wx y z { | } ~� � � � � � � � � � � �î � ì ê � � � é � �� � � � � � � � � �� � � �
� � � � ����� �   ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ §¨ © ª « ¬ ­® ¯° ± ² ³³ ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º»¼ ½¾ ¿ À Á Â Ã Ä Å� ½Æ Ç È É Ê Ë Ç ÌÍ ÌÍ Î Ï Ì Ðü ÑÒ ÓÔ Õ Ñ ÓÖ ×Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ý � Þ � � ß� �àÙ áâ ãäÙ å æ × äç� � è é � � ¼� �ê ë ì ë í îï ð è � ¼ Þ ñ Ý � ß� �� � � � ò � � �ó ô õ

ö Ü � � ß è � � � � �÷ ø ù ú û ü ýþ ÿ� � �� �� � �� 	 
 � � 
 � � � �
� � � � � � � �� � � �� � � �  ! " # $  � %& ' ( ) ) * + , - . * /012324 567389:; < = >? @ A A B CD

E F G H I J K L F MN O P Q R Q S T U V W X YZ[ \] ^ _` a b E E b c b de f g h i g jk l mn mo p q r s tu vw x yz{| } ~ � } � � ~ � �� �� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� �� � � � � � � } � � � �� � �  ¡ ¢ � £ ¤ � | } ~ � ¥ �¦ § ¨ © ª § ¦ § « ¬ ­ « ® ¯ °± ² ³ ´ µ ¶
· ¸ ¹º »¼½¾ ¿ À Á Â Ã ¿ Ä ÅÆ Ç È É Ê Ë ÌÍ ú Î Î ú Ï Ð ú ÑÒ Ó Ô Õ Ö × Ø Ù Ú Û ÜÝ Þ ßà á â ãäå æ ç è å ç é ê ë ì í îï ð ñ ò òó ô õ ö÷øù ú û ü ý þ ÿ � ú� � � � � � � � 	
 � � 
 � � � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � ���

������� !�"#$ %&'() * + ,- . / 0 12 3 4 5 6 7 3 6 8 7 9: ;< = ; > ? @ A B ?: ;C D E FG H I J K L MN O P Q R S T U VW U S S R X UYZ [ \ ]^ _ ` ^ a b c_ d ef g h i j k l m ` b _ n o p qrs t u v wxyz{|}~~� �x ��z{|����������� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � �� ���� � � � �   � ¡� ¡¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ © ª« §¬ ­ ®̄°°±²³²́µ® ¶³·̧¹ º » ¼½ ¾¿ À Á Â Ã Ä Å ÅÆ ÇÈ É Ê Ë Ì Í É ÎÏ ÐÑ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö× Ø Ù × Ú Û Ü Ý Þ ß à áâ ã ä å æ çè é ê è ë çìíîïð ñòó ô õ ö ÷ ó ø ù ú ù û ó ü ýþ ÿ � � ÿ � � �� � � � �	 
 � �
���� ���� ��� � � � �� � � � �� ! " # $ % & ' ( ) * + ,- å . / 0 ç -è ë 1 ê 2 - 3 4ê 05 6 7 8 9: ; < < = >? @ A B C D EF G H I J KL M N O P QR S T U V W X Y Z X [\ ]^ _ ` ` a b c d ` _ e fghhijkl hm n o p q r s t ru v w x y z { u vu v w x y z {| }~ � � � � � ~ � ��� ����� ���� ���� � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � �   � ¡¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ ©ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ¬² ³ ´µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ º » ¼ » ½ ¶ ¶ »¾ ¿ À Á Â ÃÄ Å Â Æ¾ Â Ç Ç È É ÊË Ì Í Î Ï ËÐ Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ó Ö × ×Ø ÙÚ Û Ü Ý Þß à áâ à Ùãäåæçåèéêèå ë ì í î ï ð ï ñ ë ò ó ô õ ö ÷ ò ö ø ù ú û üý þ ÿ �ÿ � ÿ � � � � � �� þ �� 	 
 	 � �
��������
��� � � � � � � � � � � � � �� !�" #$% & ' ( ) * +, - . / 0 1 2 3 1 4 5 -6 7 8 9 : ; < 8 => ? @ A B C D E C F BC G H I J K L J L M N O J PQ R S T U VQ UW � X Y Z [ [ \ ] ^ _ `abc def Ë g Î h i h j k l Ìmn o p q r stuvwx y z { | } ~ � � } � � � � � � �� � � � �� � W �������� ���� � � � � � � � � � �   ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¢ ¥ ¦ § ¥ ¢£ ¨
© ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ °± ²³́µ¶·̧́¹º»¼½¾¿¼¼¾ÀÁÂÃÄ Å Æ Ç È É Ê Ë È ÌÍÎÏÐÑÐÒÓ Ô Õ Ö Ö × Ø ÙÚ ÛÜ Ý Þ ß à Üá âã ä å æ ç è é êë ì íîïðñòóïîðô

õ ö ÷ ø ù ú õ û ü ý þ ý ÿ �� � � � � � � � �	 
 �� 
 � �� � � � �� � � � � � �� �� � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � �� � � � �  ! " # $% & # ' ( ) * +, - . /0 1 2 3 4 5 6 17 8 9 : ; < = = > ?@ A BC C, D , , E FG HI J K L M N M M O PQ O R RS T U V W X Y Z [ \ Z ]^ Z _ [ ` ab c d e f g h i j kl mn o p q r st u v w x x y z {| } ~ �� �� �� � � � � � �
� � � � � � � �� � � �

� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �   ¡ � � ¢ �£ ¤ ¥ ¥ £ ¦§ ¨ © ª « ¬ ¬ ­ ® ¥¯ ° ±² ³ ´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹ ¶ º · » ¼ · ¶ ½ ¾ ¿À Á ¢ �¢ � Â� � � � ¢ �Ã Ä Å Æ Ç È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ï ÒÑ Ï Ò ÒÓ Ô Õ Ö× Ø ÙÚÛÜÝÞßàá áâààÛãâä å v æ ç è é êë ê ì íî ï ð ñ ìòóôõö÷øù ú ûü ýû þ ÿ��� ��� �� � �� 	 
 �� 
 � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� �� 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  ! " # É È $ " Å Ç % & ' ( )* + , - ./0123/451 6789:;<=:> ?@A BC D @EF G H I JK L M N L N O K P OQ R S T UVW XY Z [ XW \ ] ^ _` a ^ ` b cd a e f g hi j k l mn o p qrstuv w xyz{ | n o } ~ � � k� �� � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �� � � � � � � � � � �� �� } ~ � � � � jn o � � j� � � �   � ¡¢ £ ¤¥¦ §¨© ª« ¬«­®¯°±®²­³´µ ¶ · · ¸ ¹ º º »¼ ½ ¾¿ ÀÁÂÃ Än i Å Æ n iÇ } � ik � Æ � i} Å � � Æ } o È } n oÉ Ê Ë Ì Í Î ÏÐÑÒÏÓÔÕÏ ÕÔÖ × Ø ÙÚ Û Ü Ý Þ ß Ý à áâ � Æ ã Å Æ mÆ lÇ o m � � Å � i� �ä å æç è é ê ë ì í î ï ðñ ò ó ô ñ ò õ ö ö÷ ø ù ù ú ù ûü ø ý þ ÿ � � � � � �� � � � 	 
� � 
 � � � � � � � 
� � � � � �� � � � � !" # $ % & ' ( () * + , - . / 01 2 3 4 44 56 7 8 9 6 : ; ; <= > ? @ A B C A ?@ D > B A E F G HI JKL MN O P Q Q RN ST U VWXY Z [ \ ] ^ Z_ ` 	 	 � � 
 ab c d e f g ahijklm n o o p q r s tu v w x y z { |v }~ � � � � � > @ � A � � > �@ D� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �@ � � ? D A B� � @ � A � B B C� � � �  ¡¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § £ ¨ © ª« ¬ ­® ¯ ° ±° ² ³ ­ ³ «´ µ ¶ ·¸ 5 ¹º » � � ¼ º½¾ ¿ À Á Â Ã ÄÅ ÂÆ Ç È É Ê Ë ÌÍ Î Ï ÐÑ Ò Ó ÔÕ Ö × Ø Ø Õ Ù ÚÛ ÜÝÞ ß à áâ ã ä å æ ç è ç é êë ì í î ï í ð ñ� > ? > C � ò� ò ó > � � B Cô õ ö ÷ø ù ú û û ü ýþÿ � � � �� �� � � � 	
 � � 
 � � �� � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � �� �  !" # $ % & ' ( ) * +& ,- . / Ó Ù 0Ò Ó Õ Ù12345 6 7 8 9 : ; < = > ? @A B C D E F F G H> 9I JKLM N O P Q R S Q N M NT ð U ë ì V W X Y Z [ \ ] Z ZM ^ X ] _ `a b c d e f g h ijklmnonj p q r s t u v pw xy z { | }~ � � �� � � � � � � �� ����� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � �� �� � � � � ��  ¡ ¢ £ ¤¥¦ §¨ © ª « ¬ ­®¯° ± ² ³ ´ µ ¶ ·̧ ¹ º º » ¼ ½¾ ¿ À Á

Â Ã Ä Å Æ Ç ÈÉ Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ì Í Ï ÐÑ ÒÓÔÕÖÔ×Ø ÙÚÛÜÝÞßà Ûáâãäåæçç èéêë ì í î ï ð ñ ò óôõö÷ø ù
ú û ü ý þ ÿ � �� �� � � � �

	 P Q WS 
 � � 
 
 MR 
 S M� � � � � �� � �������������� �  !" # $ % &'()*( +,- . / 0- . / 0 1 2 3 4 56 789: ;<= S Q 
 > M S R ? @ABC6 7 DEFGHIJKLMN O P Q R S T U VWX Y Z [ \ Y ] ^ X _` - a b c d e c b M f S � N g Q M Nh i j k l mn o p q r s t uvwx xyzw { | } ~ � � } � � �� s r �� � �� � � � � �
� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   ¡ ¢� £¤ ¥ ¦ § ¥ ¨© ¥ ª« ¬ ­ ® ¬ ¯ °± ² ¯ ³

´µ ¶ · ¸ ¶ · ¹º ¹ » ¼ ½ ½ ¼ ¾ ¿ À Á½ ¼ ¾ ¾ Â Ã ¼  ¡ Ä � Å   ¡ ¢Æ ÇÈ ÉÊË Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò ÓÔ Õ Ö × Ô Ø Ù ÚÕ Û Ü Ý Þ ßà d á áá /â ã ä å ä ã æç è é êë ì å ã ä í î ä ïï é ê ð ñ ò ó ô õ ö÷ ï ø ùú û ü ý þ ÿ � �

� � � � � Æ� Æ �� � � � 	 
� �
������
��������� ��� � !"#�!$ e % - . 0 c& ' ( ) * +, - . / 01 2 3 4 5 6 7 ¦ 89:;
< = > ?@ABC� Æ � � � � Å ÅÆ D E ¡ £ F ¡ EG H I H J $ " K LMNOPQRSTUQNVW X Y W Z [ \ Y ]^_` a b c defg

h i j k � Å £ ¡ � Ç Ä � � F� � Æ Æ l m n o pq r s t u v w x y x z { | } ~ �� � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� � �� � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � �   ¡ ¢£ £ ¤ ¥¦§ ¨D £ Ç� D ¢ ¢ � Æ � � ¡ £Æ D ¡ Ç © © ª« ¬ ­ ® ¯ ° ± ² ° ± ­³ ­
´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¹º»¼½ ¾ ¿ À Á Â ÃÃ Ä Å Æ À ¿Ç È É Ê Ë Ì ÉÍ È Î Ï Ð ÑÒ Ó Ô Õ Ö × Ø Ù Ù ÕÚ Ù Û Ü Ý Þ ß àá âãä å æ ç è é ê ëì í î ï ðñ ò ó ô õ Ö Ò ó ö ò ÷ø ù ú û ü ý þ ÿ � ù � ý� Ö ò Ò Õ Ö Ö � � � � � � � � 	 � � � �
 � � 
 � � 
 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � �  ! " # $ Õ × ò % Ò& Ù× Ø & ó Ó Ö ÷' Ö Õ Õ %� Ó Ô × Ø Ù Ù Õ Òò Ú Ú Ö Ó ò & ( ) * + , ,- . / 0 12 3 4 5 6 7 4 8 8 7 9 4 : ;< = > ? @ A B ? C D E FG H H I J õ ò Ö ó Õ Ö � Õ & Kò × Õ& Ó Ö % ö Õ Ù Ù& ÙL M N O L P Q R ST U

V W V X Y Z Y[ \ ] ] ^ _ ` ab c d e f g g h i jñ Õ Ù Ù Õ × õ Õó Õ Ö Ök l m n o l p q r s t u vw x 
 vu w � y� � �z { |}~��~�������~Ö Õ ' Õ % óÚ Ù� � � � �� ò Ö ó Ô Ó õ ó (Ô Õ ö Ò� �� � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   ¡¢£ ¤¥ ¦ § ¦ ¨ © ª « ¬ © ­ ª ® ¯ ª ©° ± ²³´ µ ° ¶ ·¸ ¹º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ ÀÀÁ Â Ã ÄÅ Æ Æ ÇÆ È È É Ê Ë Ì Í É ÊÎ Ï Ð Ñ Ò ÓÎ ÔÕ Ö × ØÙ Ú Û Ü Ý Þ Ú ß ß Ù àÒ Ù Ø % ' Ò ñ ÷& Ù' � % Òá ââã ä åæ æ ç ã è é ê ë ì í î ï ðñ ò ó ô õ ö÷ ø& ( ò � � Õ Ö ó Ó %× Ø & ó Ó Ö Ø ò Ò Ú õ Ö& Ö Ó ù ó Ó % Ö �' Ó Ö � Ó % Ö �ú ûÚ Ó ÷ % Ø % ' ÒÚ Ù ò & Õ ü ý þ ÿ( ò Ù � Ú Õ % % ÷Ù ò % Õ� � � � � � � � 	 
 � � 
� � � � �� �
� � � � � �� � � � ��� � !" # $ % & ' ( ) * + , - . / 0 ,1 2 3 4 5 67 8 9 : : 8; < = ; > ? @ =A B C C D E F G

H I JK I L LM N O P Q R M QS T U VW X Y Z [ \ ] Y ^ _ ` a b c ^ b d e b a a f ` gh i jj k l m
n o o p q r os t u v w xy z { | }~ z � � � � � �� � ����������� � �� � � � �� � � �� � � � �   ¡ ¡¢ £ ¤ ¥¦ § ¨ © ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ a ° ± ² ³ ´ µ ¶d ·¸ ¹ º » ¼½ »¾¿¾¾ÀÁÂ Ã ÄÅÆÇÈ ÉÊ Ë ¶ Ì Ë · · Í^ Îg Ï Ð ° ¶ Ñ ´ µ^ Î ÒÓÔÕ Ö×ØÙÚÖÛÜ ÝÞ ß à á â ã ä å æç è é ê ç ë ´ µ Î Ï ì í Ëî Ï · · ° Ñ ^ Îa ´ ï Ë ð Îë Ï ± ñ ^ Îò Ë Ï ë ° · ·ó ¶ µ Ñ ô õ = ö ö õ÷øùú÷ûüýþ ÿ ð Ï µ ñ� í ¶ ¶^ Î� � � � � � � � 	 
 � �
 � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � �� � � � � �� · ´ Ñ Ñ ´ ³ò  í Ï ð Ë !"#$%& '( (& ) * + ,

- . / 0 1 2 3 4 5 - - .6 7 8 9 9 7d b ë � a f Ì b ^ _: ; < = > ? @ Aî B c g C ` ëë b î ò D E F G H G IJ FK L M N ;O P Q Q R S T U V WX Y Z X
[ \ ] ^ _ `abcde f gh i j k l m n o po n q r st uv wxyz{|}~|� ���������� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� �� � � � �� � � � �     �¡ ¢ £ ¤¥ ¦ § ¨ © ª ¨ « ¬ «­ ® ¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ µ ´ ¶ ®· ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ¼ ½¾ º¿ À Á Â ÃÄ Å Æ Ç Ç Å ÈÉÊËÌÍÊÎÏÐÑÒÓÔ Õ Ö Ö × Ø × Ù ÚÛ Ü Ý Þßàáàâãäã åæçèéçêëìíîï ð ñ ò ðó ôõö÷öøùúùûü ýþÿööþ���Ï�ÑÒ �� ���	
��� 
 � � � � �� � � � � � � � � �� �� � � � ! " # $ % &G ' ( )* ( + , - ' . /012345467 8 9 : ; < 9 < = > ?@ A B C DE F G H I J K GL M F N O P O Q RS T U V W X WY Z [\ ? ] : ] @̂ A B_ ` ab c d a e f e g h d i j k l m n m o p q r k s t uv w x y z { | } ~ � � �� � � � ������� � � �� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � �� � � � �  ¡ ¢ £ ¤¥¦§ £̈© ª§¤ « ¬­®® ¬ °̄±²³b́́°µ ¶· ¸¹º»¼½¾¿ÀÁÂ ÃÄÅÆÇÈ

É Ê Ë Ì ÍÎ Ï Ð ÏÑ Ò Ó Ô ÕÖ × Ø Ù × Ú Û ÜÝ Þ ß à áâãä åæç äå è éê ë ì í î ï ð ñ ðò ó ô ò õ ö ÷ øù ú û üý þ ÿ � � � �� � � � � � 	 
� � 
 � � � � � �� �� � � � �� �� ��  !" # $ % &' () * + , - ./ - 0 +1 . - 2 3 4 + ,5 6 7 8 9 : ;< = D > ? @ A BCD E FG H G I JK LMNO P Q R S RT U P V W X Y Z [ \] ^_ ` a b c d e f g h i ` j k l c i mn o p p q4 - . , 4 r r * . , ) 2 0 r *3 s ) 3 t + ,Ï u v w x Ðy Ë z {4 r s 1 / ) ) 2 + , . - - , |}~��� ���������. ) r �1 . � � r , - . �
, . � / / - . � +s � � � � � � � 3 � � � � � � � �� � � � �   ¡ ¢ £�}�¤ ¥¦;§̈©���ª ��« ¬ ­® ¯. ) + - / r . * s r °±²³´ µ ¶ · ¸· ¹ º º »¼½¾¿ÀÁ ÂÃ3 ) s s - � - s r ) s � + , r .Ä s ÅÆÇÈÉ ÊËÌÍÎÏ ÐÑÒÏÓÔÕÖ × Ø ÌÙÚ Û Ü Ý

2 ) . , 4 - . 2 0 r *��Þ̈�Þ��©ßMNß�̈©�à á â, � � - . . �ã s r t - . � äåæçèééåêëìíîïðñîòóîôõö ÷ ø ù ú û ÷ ü
ý þ ÿ ÿ � � � þ� � � � � � � 	

, 
 � � � � 
 � � � � � � �� � � � � �� � � � � � � 3 � � � �2 � � � � � � 3 � � � �/ � � � � � � 3 � � � 
 � � � 3 ,+ - r � - . � + 3 ) � . ,, ) 0 - . + , . - - ,ã r , 4 � 2 � s r 2 - � �  ! "#+ � � � � � $ � � % � � �, ) 0 - . r s s - * ã r , , - . * . ) 0& ' ( ) ) '+ � � 
 � % � � � 3 r / ã - . Ä s r 3 -1 � � � 
 � * . � +3 r / ã - . % � r *
, - . / / 0 1 2 3 4 5 2 6 78 9: ; < < = > ? @A =B C D E F Gr � / � . r s � +0 r s t HIJK L M N N O P QR ST U V W X N�ßYZ[\ ]_̂̂à

b c d e d b f g c eh b c i i bj k l m l j n o k mp q r s t u v w x y z{ | } |~ �� � � � � � � � ���� � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �

� �� � � �� �� �   ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥  ¦§ ¨ ©ª « ¬ ­ ® ¯ ¯ « ® ¬ ° ± ² ³´ µ ¶ · ¸¹ º» ¼ ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ ½ À Á ÂÃÄÅÆ ÇÈÉ Ê Ë Ì Í ÎÏ Ð ÑÒ Ó Ô ÒÕ Ö × Ø Õ × Ù ÚÛ Ü Ý Þ ß à á â Ü ã ä å æ ç è ç é ê ëì íî ï ð ñ î ò ó ô õö÷ ø ù ù ú û ü ý ø þ ü
ÿ � � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � � 	
 � � � � � � � � � � �ý � � � � � � � � � � �  ! " # $ ¦ % &� � � � � � ' ( ½ ) * »+ , -. / 0 1 2 03 4 5 67 8 9 : ; < = 9 ½ ) * »> ? @ A B C DE F G H I J K L IÛ M NO P Q R S T Q U V W X YZ [ \ ] ^_ `a bc d e f g h i j k l m k l l n o p mq r s t u v r w u x yz { | } w w } ~ } �� g d d h � d |� ������ C � � �� d d � e � h � � i� � � � � � �i � � � e � h i h� � � � � � �� � �   ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥¦ §

¨ ¨ ©
g � ª « ¬ � � f �­ ® ¯ ° ± ²³ ´ µ ¶ · d � � e if �¹̧º»¼½¾¿À¾¹ÁÂÃÄÅÆÇ ÈÉÊËÌ Í Î Ï Ð Î ÑÒ ÓÔÕÖÒ×ØÙ Ú Û Ü Ý ÛÞ 5 ß à áÛ Ù â ã6 ß 5 ä å ä Þ æ å ç á4 à á èéêëìíîïð ñíï ò ó ô õö � � � � ÷ ø ù

ú û ü ý þ ÿ� � � �� � � �� 	
�� 
� �
�� � �� � � � � � � � �� � � �  
!"#$#!% & ' ( ( &)*+,-./01 2 3 4 56 7 7 8 9

: ; < ; = > ? @ AB C D E F G H I JK LM N O O P O Q R S T U V WX Y Z [ \ ] ^_ `a Q b cd T e f g h i j k l L m n F E G I nK Lo p q o r s qt uH D n v G C w m x C n G C E y � z { y � | �� } ~� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � �� �C E �+.� v � w w t � y u� x u t  ¡ ¢¡£¤¥¦¥§̈ ¥©¥ª«¬+­��+ +®�°̄±²³́²µ £°¶² ·̧¹º»«¼ ¥ª«½¾̧º¼ ½¾̧¿À¥ ª« Á ÂÃ Ä Å Æ Ç È É Ê ËÌÍ ÎÏÐÎÑ Ì ÒÑÓ Ô Õ Ö Ö Õ × Ø Ù Õ Ú Û Ü Ý Þß à á â ã ä å æ â ã åç è é ê ë éì í î ï ì ð ñ î ò ðó ô õ ö÷ø ù é ç ú û ç è éü ýþÿ��� � � � � é ê ç è é� �� 	¢

 ° ��
 � � � � � �� �� � � � � �� � � ��� !"�#$ %&$ H G ' v ( D G L EC E' I ) m n ' * m C G C EC I L + * C E L D v v L G ( D G L E' m v * K m v vC E, - . / 0 C m I E123456789:;< $=>%"=

? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B? @ A B
? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C D B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C E B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B? C F B

? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B? A G B ? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H B? A H BA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA HA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA AA A
A IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA IA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA JA J A KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA KA K

@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ J@ JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE JE J
E AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE AE A ? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E H B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B? E I B ? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E F B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B? E D B

? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B? E L B

C JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC JC J C HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC HC H? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B? C K B ? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C M B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B? C G B
D KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD K G AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AG AD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD MD M G JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JG JC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC AC A

? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B? E E B

A MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA MA M
J AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ AJ A? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B? J A B

? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B? K F B
K MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK MK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK EK E? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B? K D B ? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B? E N B

? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B? E G B
K GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK GK G K KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK KK K K IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK IK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK AK A ? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E M B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B? E K B

C IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IC IN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN H
D HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD HD H L AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AL AN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IN IL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL JL J ? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G B? D G BD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK JK J K HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK HK H? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E B? D E BD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD JD ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID ID I

N AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN JN J ? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B? N M B

J JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ JJ J

O P OQR S T QR U V WX Y R S TR Z V W[ U X \ ] X Y ^ _ ` a b c d e f c g h i j j j k _ l m f n l o b p ` _ q r _ ` a b s b t b u s r v u l ` w x y u r zd f f c f g i h j j { _ l m f n l| } ~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � } � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � | } ~ � � } � � � � � � � � � � � � � ~ ~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ~ � � � � � � � � } � � � � � � ~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � } � � � } � � � } � � � � � � ~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   ¡ ¢ �£ � � � � � � � ¤ � £ � � � ~ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � } � ~ ¥ � � � � } � � � � ¦ � � � � � } � � � � � � � � � � � § ¨ � � � } � � � � � � ©   � ª « � © � © ¬ �

­ ® ¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ µ ± ¶ ³ ·¸ ¹ µ º ² ± ± »­ ® ¯ ¼ ± µ µ ½ ² ¾ ¿ ¹ ® À ± ¹ ¯Á ² ¹ ³ ³ ± Â ½ Ã ³ ½ Â ¯ ½ ¯Ä ¹ Â ¯ Å ± ² ³° ± ² ³ ´ ½ ¹° ² ¿ ± ² ´ ¯ ½ ¹ Â Æ Ç ½ Â ¶ ½È ½ ´ ³ É ± ¶ ³ · ´ ½ ¹Ê ½ Ë º ± ® ³ À ± ¹ ¯È · ¹ ® ½ Ì ´ ® ¹ Â ¯ È ¹ ÍÄ ½ ± Å ± ® ¯ É ³ Î Ï ½ ¹ ³ ² ¿ ¾ ½ À ¯¸ Í ¯ ½ ° ¹ ² » À ± ¹ ¯° ± ² ³ ´ ½ ¹ Ê ± ² ³ ·° ¹ ² » Ð ² ± Ç ½¼ ¹ ´ ³ ® ½ À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹Á ² ¹ ³ ³ ± Â È ½ ´ ³Ð ¹ ² Â ¿ ½ ² É ³ ² ½ ½ ³Ê ± ² ³ · É ± ¶ ³ · ´ ½ ¹Ä ¹ Â ¯ Å ± ² ³ Ê ± ² ³ ·Ñ · ½ ¸ ½ ¿ Ò · ³ ´Ó ¹ ´ ³ ¼ ± ´ · ¹ µ ½ Ã ³ ½ Â ¯ ½ ¯½ Ã ³ ½ Â ¯ ½ ¯È Í µ ½ ² ¿ Â Ò ½ Ã ³ ½ Â ¯ ½ ¯È ¿ Â ¯ ´ ± ² À ± ¹ ¯Æ ® Ç ½ ² ´ ³ ± Â ½ À ± ¹ ¯Ï ½ Ç ¿ ´ À ± ¹ ¯ ½ Ã ³ ½ Â ¯ ½ ¯½ Ã ³ ½ Â ¯ ½ ¯° ± ² ³ ´ µ ± ¶ ³ · À ± ¹ ¯Ï ¶ ¾ » ® ½ ² Ô ´ ¼ ± ¶ ² ³Ï ¹ Õ Õ ¿ Â ´À ¶ ¯ µ ± ² ½ ¼ ± ¶ ² ³¼ ± Â ¿ ´ ³ ± Â Æ Ç ½ Â ¶ ½É ± µ ½ ² ´ ³ ± Ë Â Æ ² ½ ¹É ³ ¹ µ ´ · ¹ Ë É ± ¶ ³ · ½ Ã ³ ½ Â ¯ ½ ¯° ¹ ² » Ä ¹ Â ½ Æ ² ½ ¹Ñ Ë Í Õ ± ² ¯ Æ Ç ½ Â ¶ ½ Ê ± ² ³ ·­ ² ¾ · ¹ ² ¯ À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹Ï ² ¹ µ º ® ½ À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹Ö ¿ Â Ò ´ Æ ² ½ ¹

Ö ÆÖ ÏÁ ÆÐ Æ× Ï× ÆÊ ÆÖ ¼Æ ÆÁ ÏØ Æ× ¼× ÙÏ ÆÖ Ù× Ó× ÁÄ ÆÁ ¼Ï ÏÏ ¼Æ ÏÏ ÙÐ ÏÁ ÙÏ ÓÁ Ó¸ ÆÁ Á¸ ÏÄ ÏÁ ÐÏ ÁÁ ¸Ø ÏØ ¼Ø Ù

É ³ ¹ ² ³ Ù ¹ ³ ½Ú Û Û Û Æ Å ² ¿ ®Ú Û Û Û É ½ Å ³ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý Ý × ¹ Â ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ý Ú × ¶ Â ½Ü Ý Ý Þ × ¶ Â ½Ü Ý Ý Ü × ¹ Â ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ý ß Á ½ º ² ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ý ß Ø ¹ ² ¾ ·Ü Ý Ý Þ × ¶ Â ½Ü Ý Ý Þ É ½ Å ³ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý Þ É ½ Å ³ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý à × ¹ Â ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ý à × ¹ Â ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ý à Æ Å ² ¿ ®Ü Ý Ý à Ù ½ ¾ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý á Á ½ º ² ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ý á Ø ¹ ² ¾ ·Ü Ý Ý á Ø ¹ ² ¾ ·Ü Ý Ý á × ¶ Â ½Ü Ý Ý á É ½ Å ³ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý á Ù ½ ¾ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý á Ù ½ ¾ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý â É ½ Å ³ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý Û Æ ¶ Ò ¶ ´ ³Ü Ý Ý ã Ø ¹ ² ¾ ·Ü Ý Ý â É ½ Å ³ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý ã × ¶ ® ÍÜ Ý Ý ã ­ ¾ ³ ± º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý ã ­ ¾ ³ ± º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý Û Á ½ º ² ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ú Ü × ¶ Â ½Ü Ý Ý ã Ù ½ ¾ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ý Û Á ½ º ² ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ý Û × ¶ Â ½Ü Ý Ú Ú Æ Å ² ¿ ®Ü Ý Ú Ú É ½ Å ³ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ú Ü Á ½ º ² ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ú Ü × ¶ Â ½Ü Ý Ú Þ × ¹ Â ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ú á Ù ½ ¾ ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ú â Ê ± Ç ½ µ º ½ ²Ü Ý Ú Û × ¹ Â ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ú Û × ¹ Â ¶ ¹ ² ÍÜ Ý Ú Û É ½ Å ³ ½ µ º ½ ²

ä å w w b u q æ b r y s b u q r ç è ` w n y u x é v u b r

g j f ê ë w ` ì q è w v x w ` l l bÈ Í µ ½ ² ¿ Â Ò í ½ Ã ³ ½ Â ´ ¿ ± ÂÓ ¹ ´ ³ ¼ ± ´ · ¹ µ í ½ Ã ³ ½ Â ´ ¿ ± ÂØ ¶ ® º ½ ² ² Í Ä ¹ Â ½ Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ ± ´ · ¹ µÙ ± Í ® ½ ¼ ± ¶ ² ³ É ½ ² Ç ¿ ¾ ½ À ± ¹ ¯ î ¸ ¿ ® ´ ½ ¹É ³ ¹ µ ´ · ¹ Ë Ê ± ² ³ · î Ê ½ ® ´ ± ÂÁ ² ± ¯ ¯ ¿ Â Ò ³ ± Â À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ · ¹ ² ® ½ ´ Ù ¿ ¾ » ½ Â ´À ¹ ¿ ® Ë ¹ Í ï ¿ ½ Ë Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ · ¹ ² ® ½ ´ Ù ¿ ¾ » ½ Â ´° ½ µ º ² ± » ½ ° ¹ ² » î É ³ Ñ · ± µ ¹ ´Ï ² ± ± µ É ð ¶ ¹ ² ½ î Ø ¿ ® ³ ± Âñ Æ Ï òñ Ï ¼ òñ Ï Ð òñ Á Ì òñ Á × òñ × Ð òñ × ¸ òñ Ö Ó òñ Ê Ï ò ó ô õ ö ÷ ø õ ù ú û ü ý ù þ ÿ ô � ù ÷ó ô õ ö ÷ ø õ ù ú û ü � � � ÷ ø � � � ÿ ô � ù õ ù � � ù þ ÷
Ö ½ Â ¯ ¹ ® Æ Ç ½ Â ¶ ½ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Ï ¹ Õ Õ ¿ Â ´È ¹ ® ® ¿ Â Ò ³ ± Â À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ ± Å Â ± ² Î Á ² ¹ ³ ³ ± Â° ± ² ³ ¾ · ½ ´ ³ ½ ² À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ ± Å Â ± ² Î Ê ½ ® ´ ± ÂÓ µ ´ Ë ± ² ³ · À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Ê ½ ® ´ ± ÂÄ ¹ Â Ò ® ½ Í À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Á ² ¹ ³ ³ ± ÂÉ · ½ ¹ ² ½ ² À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Á ² ¹ ³ ³ ± ÂÙ ¹ ² ³ µ ± ¶ ³ · À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ ± Å Â ± ²È ¿ Â ³ ± Â À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ ± Å Â ± ²Ñ · ¶ ² º ½ ² Â À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ ± Å Â ± ² Î ¸ ¿ ® ´ ½ ¹¼ ± º ¯ ½ Â Æ Ç ½ Â ¶ ½ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Ï ¹ Õ Õ ¿ Â ´ñ ¸ ¼ òñ ¸ Ù òñ ¸ Ó òñ ¸ Á òñ ¸ Ð òñ ¸ ¸ òñ ¸ Ì òñ ¸ × òñ ¸ Ö òñ ¸ Ä ò

� � ô � � 	 ú õ � ù ÷ ú õ ù � � 	 � 
 ú ø � � ù �
ó ô õ ö ÷ ø õ ù ú û ü � ÿ ô � ù ÷

¸ ¹ ´ ® ½ µ ½ ² ½ À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î ¼ ½ Â ³ ² ¹ ® É ± ¶ ³ · ´ ½ ¹¼ ² ¹ Â ½ ´ Ë ¹ ³ ½ ² î Ó ¹ ´ ³ Â ½ Í Î ¼ ² ¹ Â ½ ´ Ë ¹ ³ ½ ²Á ½ ´ ³ ¿ Â Ò Ð ² ± Ç ½ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Ó ¹ ´ ³ Â ½ Í Î ¼ ² ¹ Â ½ ´ Ë ¹ ³ ½ ²È ½ ´ ³ Õ ¿ ½ ® ¯ À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Ø ¿ ® ³ ± ÂØ ¿ ¯ ¯ ® ½ ´ ½ Ã À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Ø ¿ ® ³ ± ÂÀ ¿ Â Ò Ë ± ± ¯ À ± ¹ ¯ Æ ² ½ ¹ î Ó ¹ ´ ³ Â ½ Í Î ¼ ² ¹ Â ½ ´ Ë ¹ ³ ½ ²ñ Ø Ó òñ Ø Á òñ Ø Ð òñ Ø ¸ òñ Ø Ì òñ Ø × ò ó ô õ ö ÷ ø õ ù ú û ü 
 ÿ ô � ù ÷

� � � ÷ ø � � � ÿ ô � ù

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
  

Title of meeting: 
 

Cabinet Member for Traffic and Transportation Decision 
Meeting 

 
Date of meeting: 
 

 
6th September 2019 

Subject:  
 

Residents Parking Scheme Changes 

Report by: 
 

Tristan Samuels, Director of Regeneration   

Wards affected: 
 

St Thomas, St Jude, Charles Dickens, Fratton, Nelson, 
Baffins, Paulsgrove, Eastney & Craneswater, Central 
Southsea, Cosham and Milton. 
 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1  To recommend ways of improving the residents' parking scheme to; encourage  

the use of cars with lower emissions, encourage car sharing, reduce the 
potential impact of student halls of residence on parking in the local area, make 
it easier for residents living  near Residents Parking Zone (RPZ) boundaries to 
find parking and to reduce displacement.    

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1           That the following variations to the Portsmouth City Council (Various Roads) 

Residents Parking Places) (No. 9) Consolidation Order 2016 are advertised and 
any objections considered at a future Traffic and Transport Decision meeting: 

 
 (i) The procedure for issuing permits is changed to allow car sharing between 

people living in different zones by allowing the same vehicle to be issued 
with permits for two zones as described in paragraphs 4.3 to 4.5  

 
 (ii) The eligibility for permits is changed to exclude student halls of residence as 

described in paragraphs 4.6 to 4.10. 
. 
   
 
2.2           That the following variations to the charge for the issue of parking permits be 

advertised under the statutory notice procedure:    
 
 (i) The charges for residents permits are changed, as described in paragraph 

4.11 to 4.16, so the first permit for a household will be free if the vehicle is 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



 

2 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

powered solely by electricity and that the charge for a first permit is reduced 
by 50% to £15 if the vehicle emits less than 100g of CO2 per Km provided 
(a) it is not powered by a diesel internal combustion engine and (b) that it 
was registered after 1 March 2001. 

 
 (ii) The cost of a third resident's permit to be reduced from £590 to £300 as 

described in paragraphs 4.17 and 4.18. 
 
 
 
3.  Strategic Context  
 
3.1 As a national and international maritime gateway on the south coast of England, 

Portsmouth is the economic centre of the South East Hampshire region.  
 
3.2  The city has been shaped by its island and peninsula geography, with the 

transport network significantly constrained by the limitations of the land, indeed 
there are only three road links from Portsea Island (where Portsmouth city 
centre is located) to the mainland, and a population density greater than any 
outside London.   

 
3.3  The transport network is reaching and exceeding capacity, negatively impacting 

in particular on productivity, economic growth, and air quality.   There is a 
dominance of trips, including shorter intra island trips, being undertaken by 
private car, with public transport accounting for a small mode share. Bus travel, 
particularly, for such shorter distance trips, is often costly and time-consuming.    
Portsmouth was identified by Government as one of eight ‘third wave’ local 
authorities required to develop an Air Quality Local Plan aimed at identifying 
measures to ensure compliance with air quality statutory annual limits for NO2 in 
the shortest possible time.   

 
3.4 In July 2018, Portsmouth City Council Full Council declared a Climate 

Emergency, with the Cabinet committing to devising an action plan to address 
the key challenges faced by the city.  

 
3.5 Transport has a key role to play in addressing these concerns to enable 

continued mobility, while fulfilling the Cabinet's commitment to reducing the 
number of cars within the city. 

 
4. Background 
 
4.1 Residents' parking zones (RPZs) play an important part in prioritising highway 

space for use by residents.  Permit schemes can help to control the number of 
permits each household can obtain and ensures a fairer distribution of space, 
reducing congestion and air pollution. 

   
4.2 Analysis of the consultation responses received through the wider RPZ 

programme, has identified a number of possible improvements to the ways in 
which permits are allocated, and these are discussed in more detail below. 

Page 20



 

3 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
  Sharing cars 
4.3 During the implementation of new zones a number of residents who share cars 

with people living in other zones have been unable to obtain permits.  The 
current criteria set by a Transport and Traffic Decision on 28 October 2010 
states that privately owned vehicles must be registered to the resident at their 
address within the zone before a permit is issued.  A vehicle cannot be 
registered to two addresses so it is not currently possible to meet this 
requirement if people are sharing a car and live in different zones.   

 
4.4   The City Council wants to encourage the sharing of cars as a way of reducing 

the number of vehicles in the city and it is recommended that the criteria used 
for issuing permits is changed to allow two households  sharing a car and living 
in different zones of the city to obtain permits for both zones if; 

 
• the car is registered in a permit zone in Portsmouth,   
• both the registered keeper and the sharer confirm the vehicle is being 

shared on a regular basis,   
• the sharer proves they are living in a different  zone   
• the insurance document confirms both the registered keeper and the 

sharer are insured to drive the car and 
• evidence is produced to show the insurance company has been 

informed that the car is shared between the residents of two different 
addresses.      

 
4.5 A maximum of two permits will be issued for a car if it is shared and each 

household will need to buy a permit for their own zone.  A household will be 
charged according to the number of permits they have, i.e. if a household 
sharing a car does not have a permit they will be charged at the first permit rate 
and if a household already has a permit they will be charged at the second 
permit rate.     

  
 
 Student Halls of Residence 
4.6 The University of Portsmouth has a policy of discouraging students from 

bringing cars to the city.  In their own halls of residence the University make it a 
condition of residency that residents do not bring cars. The student halls which 
are in residents parking zones are either near the campus and/or have good 
public transport links.   

 
4.7 The Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) governing residents' permit schemes 

requires drivers to live at a residential postal address in a parking zone before 
they are eligible for a permit. The number of permits issued to each address is 
limited normally to two but a third permit can be issued where parking space 
allows.   

 
4.8 Initially each student hall was classed as a single address making the whole hall 

eligible for just two permits.  Increasingly students need to take out insurance 

Page 21



 

4 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

and other contracts which require them to have a postal address. To facilitate 
this each room in a hall is now classed as an individual postal address.  

 
4.9 It is recommended that a change to the Traffic Regulation Order is advertised 

with the intention of excluding those living in student halls of residence from 
permit eligibility.  This measure will remove the potential of a hall of residence 
having a large number of permit holders and overwhelming the parking in the 
area around them.     

 
4.10 Students with blue badges will still be able to bring vehicles and park using the 

badge.   The restriction on halls of residence will not apply to houses of multiple 
occupancy (HMOs).  Permits issued to HMOs are controlled in the same way as 
other properties.  Each household can obtain up to two permits unless there is 
sufficient parking space in the zone and then a third permit can be obtained.    

 
 Reduced permit charge for low emission vehicles  
4.11 The City Council wishes to encourage households which need a car to choose a 

vehicle with low emissions.  To encourage this change it is proposed to offer a 
reduced permit price for residents' vehicles with low emissions.  The City 
Council also wants to encourage reduced vehicle ownership and so the reduced 
price is only proposed to be offered on the first permit each household applies 
for.  Under this proposal a household that has more than one vehicle will pay the 
normal price for a second or third permit, regardless of the type of vehicle or its 
emission level.    

 
4.12 It is recommended that there is no charge for the first permit if it is for a vehicle 

powered solely by electricity.  
 
4.13 With regards to reduced permit charges for low emissions vehicles, currently the 

most accessible proxy for this is based on CO2 emissions, which are stated on 
new vehicle registration documents or can be checked on the DVLAs website. 
This offers a clear way of identifying lower emission vehicles.  The criteria used 
to qualify for a reduced permit cost needs to be based on readily available, and 
consistently sourced information.  More information on vehicle emissions is likely 
to become available through the government's Joint Air Quality Unit, particularly 
regarding NO2 emissions, and when it does the criteria can be updated.   

 
4.14 It is therefore recommended that if the first permit applied for by a household is 

for a vehicle which has an emission rating stated on the vehicle registration 
document (V5) below 100g of CO2 per kilometre that the cost of the permit is 
reduced by £15, subject to paragraphs 4.15 and 4.16.      

 
4.15 A vehicle registered before 1 March 2001 will not have emission information 

shown on the registration document.  These vehicles will be more than 18 years 
old and are likely to be more polluting vehicles.  It is recommended that the price 
reduction does not apply to any vehicle registered before 1 March 2001.  

 

Page 22



 

5 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

4.16 It is also recommended that any vehicle powered by a diesel internal 
combustion engine is excluded from the discount scheme because it will have 
higher particulate emissions.   

 
 
 Reduced third residents permit price  
4.17 The current cost of a third permit is £590.  Third permits are only issued where 

the space in a RPZ allows.  There are currently around 37 third permits issued 
across all the zones.  In the zones which have controls spanning 2 hours it costs 
less to buy daily visitors permits for the full year than to buy a third permit, 
although visitors permits should only be used by visitors. 

 
4.18 Residents have reported that those with more than two vehicles park the 

additional vehicles outside the zone to avoid the charge and this often creates 
displacement even when there is space within the permit zone.  It is therefore 
proposed to reduce the cost of a third permit to £300 and not to increase it 
further on 1st January 2020 as agreed in the Cabinet Member for Traffic and 
Transportation Decision meeting 23rd November 2017.  Third permits will still 
only be issued if there is space within the zone.   The charge will still act as a 
deterrent to owning three vehicles but the change is intended to reduce 
unnecessary displacement.    

 
 Overlapping (Fuzzy) Boundaries  
4.19 Along a boundary between two adjacent RPZs a resident is currently issued with 

a permit which allows them to park in one of the zones. When there is a high 
utilisation of parking spaces residents with RPZ permits maybe prevented from 
using the closest vacant parking space because that nearest parking space is 
not located in the zone named on their permit.   

 
4.20 To overcome this we can consider making the parking places closest to the 

boundary available for both sets of permit holders.  This would mean that rather 
than the roads one side of a boundary being only available for X permit holders 
to park and the other side only available to zone Y permit holders the parking 
spaces in roads closest to the boundary would be available for both X and Y 
permit holders.  In this way the area which determines which zone letter is on a 
resident's permit would be fixed but the permit could be used either side of the 
boundary.   

 
4.21 To do this requires the change to be specified in the TRO or where there is an 

existing TRO for it to be changed.  Each area where there is a boundary needs 
to be considered separately and decision taken as to the benefits. The extent of 
any cross over area can be determined and could go beyond the roads that 
actually form the boundary.   

 
 Permit Numbers  
4.22  In some areas there are more permit holders than there is space for vehicles to 

park.  Currently in the zones with the highest demand every household can 
apply for up to two permits.  This means the number of permits can considerably 

Page 23



 

6 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

exceed the space available, even accounting for a percentage of permit holders 
not requiring a parking space in the zone at any given time.    

 
4.23 However to prevent oversubscription some councils set a limit on the number of 

permits that can be issued in a zone so the number of vehicles with permits 
cannot increase beyond what is reasonable.  Officers will investigate fair ways of 
controlling the numbers of permit issued in such circumstances.  Any changes 
will need to be subject to consultation through the process required to change a 
TRO.      

 
5. Reasons for recommendations 

 These proposals are intended to encourage car sharing and encourage the use 
of vehicles with lower emissions in support of the wider agendas around air 
quality and climate change.  The recommendation on student halls is designed 
to avoid potential parking pressure.  The recommendation to reduce the third 
permit price is intended to reduce unnecessary displacement.      

 
6. Equality impact assessment 

 This report has undergone a preliminary Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) and 
a full EIA is not required as the recommendations do not have a disproportionate 
negative impact on any of the specific protected characteristics as described in 
the Equality Act 2010. Blue badge holders are not affected by any of these 
proposals.  

 
7. Legal implications 
 
7.1  It is the duty of a local authority to manage their road network with a view to 

achieving, so far as may be reasonably practicable having regard to their other 
obligations, policies and objectives, the following objectives: 

 
 (a) securing the expeditious movement of traffic on the authority’s road network; 

and 
 (b) facilitating the expeditious movement of traffic on road networks for which 

another authority is the traffic authority.” 
 
7.2  Local authorities have a duty to take account of the needs of all road users, take 

action to minimise, prevent or deal with congestion problems, and consider the 
implications of decisions for both their network and those of others. 

 
7.3  A local authority can by order under section 45 of the Road Traffic Regulation 

1984 designate parking places on the highway for vehicles, or vehicles of any 
specified class, in the order, and may charge for such parking as prescribed 
under s.46. Such orders may designate a parking place for use only by such 
person or vehicles or such person or vehicles of a class specified in the order or 
for a specific period or time by all persons or persons or vehicles of a particular 
class.  

 
7.4        A proposed Traffic Regulation Order must be advertised and the statutory 

consultees notified and given a 3-week period (21 days) in which to register any 

Page 24



 

7 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

support or objections. Members of the public also have a right to object during 
that period. If objections are received to the proposed order the matter must go 
before the appropriate executive member for a decision whether or not to make 
the order, taking into account any comments received from the public and/or the 
statutory consultees during the consultation period. 

 
7.5      Any variations to existing traffic regulation orders other than a variation of 

charges must be made by traffic order in the same way as the original order, 
including the advertising and consultation procedures.  The variation to the 
definition of Resident to exclude student accommodation and the variation to 
allow for car sharing will amount to a variation to the existing order.   

 
7.6     The variation to the charges for electric and low-emission vehicles and for third 

permits can be dealt with under the simpler notice procedure.   
 
7.7    Where any charges have been prescribed by a designation order or by an order 

under section 46A the charges may be varied by notice. The main provisions are 
contained in section 25 of the Local Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedures) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 1996. The power to vary charges at 
designated parking places is contained in section 46A of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984, 

 
7.8   Notice of the variation shall be given by publishing in at least once in a 

newspaper circulating in the area in which the parking places are situated at 
least 21 days before the changes are due to come into force. The notice must:- 

 
 A) Specify the date on which it is due to come into force; 
 B) Identify every parking place to which the notice relates;  
 C) Specify in respect of each parking place:- 
 a. The charges payable for the parking place at the date that the notice 

is given 
 b.  The charges that will be payable when the notice comes into force 
 
 Where the notice relates to an on-street parking place the local authority shall 

cause copies of the notice to be displayed in prominent positions in the road in 
which the parking place is situated. 

 
 
8. Director of Finance's comments 
 
 
8.1 The Council does not currently hold accurate information that will allow it to fully 

financially appraise the recommendation to offer a reduced charge to those who 
have a first permit for a car emitting less than100g of CO2 per Km, and free 
permits for those who own an electrical vehicle. The amount of reduced income 
is unlikely to be significant in the short term but with low emission and electrical 
vehicles becoming more popular in the medium to short term this is expected to 
be more significant. 

 

Page 25



 

8 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

8.2 There are currently 17 passes issued to people living in Student halls of 
residence it is anticipated that the loss of income will be in the region of £510 
per annum. 

 
8.3 The Council currently issues 37 third permit passes across all zones within the 

City, by reducing the charge to £300, this will result in a reduction in income of 
up to £10,730. The reduction in the third permit could result in an increase in the 
number of Third Permits applied for but also a reduction in the number of 
scratch cards sold as currently it is cheaper to buy Scratch Cards than a third 
permit.  

 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
 
Appendices: 
 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

Review of Permit Charges and 
Administration   

PCC Website - Traffic and Transportation 
Meeting - 23rd November 2017  

Portsmouth City Council (Various Roads) 
Residents Parking Places) (No. 9) 
Consolidation Order 2016 

PCC Website  

Residents Parking Permit Charges  PCC Website - Traffic and Transportation 
Meeting - 8th January 2015  

Review of Residents Parking Scheme 
Criteria  

PCC Website - Traffic and Transportation 
Meeting - 28th October 2010 

 
 
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  

Page 26



� � � � � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � 	 � � 	 
 
 � 
 
 � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � 	 � � � 	 
 
 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 
 � � � 
 � � � � � �� � � � � � � 
 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � 
 � 
 � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 
 � � 
 � � 	 � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � 
� � � � � � � 	 � �� � � 	 � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � 	 � 
 � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � 

� 	 � 	 � � � � � � 	 � �� � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � 
 ! " # $ % & ! ' ( & ) ! * ' ) ' & # ) % ! $ $ % * ! + % # ( , - ! ) % ( ) ' # . ( % & # ) ' + % ' * - # / ) 0

� � � � � � � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � 
 � � � 
 � � 	 
 � � 
 � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �1 � � � � � � 	 � � � �2 	 � � � � �1 � 
 � � � � � 
 2 	 � � � � � 3 � � � � � 4 � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � 
 
 � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � 

� 5 � 
 � � � �

★ 6 � � � � � � � � 
 � �7 � 	 � � � �
Page 27



� � � 	 � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � 
 � 	 � � � � � 
 � � � � � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � 	 
 � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � 
 � � � 	 � � 	 � � 	 � � � 	 � � 	 � 	 � � � �� � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � 	 � � � � � 
 � 	 � � � 
 � 
 � � �
� � � � � 
 � � � � � 
 � 	 � � � � � 
 � � � � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � 
 � � � � 
 � � � 	 � � � 	 � � 	 
 � 
 � 
 
 � � � � � � � � � � 
� � � � � 
 � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � 	 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � 
 � 	 � � �

� � �
★8 � 
 	 � � � � � 

★1 	 � �
★3 � 5
★9 � � � � � � � 	 
 
 � � � � � � �
★3 � 5 � 	 � � � � � � � 	 � � � �
★1 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
★2 � � � � 	 � � 
 	 � � � 	 � � � � � � 

★: 	 � � � 	 � � ; � � � � � � 	 � � � � � 
 � � �
★< � � � � � 5 � � � � � � � � � � � 

★< � � � � � 5 � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � 5 	 � � � � 
 � � � � � � � 
 � = � � � � � 
 
 � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � 	 � � � 	 � � � 
 � : 	 � 
� � � � 
 � � � 5 � � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 	 � � � 
 	 � � 	 � � 	 � � � = � � � � � � � � � 
 � � 	 � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � 
 � � � � � � 	 � � � 	 � � � � 
 � 
 � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 	 
 � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � >

� � � � � � � � 
 � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � 	 � � � � � 	 
 � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � 	 � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 	 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � 3 � � � � � � 
 	 � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 � �Page 28



� � 
 � � � � � � 	 � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � 	 � � � �� 	 � 
 � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � 
 � � � � � 
 � � � � � 
 �� � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � 	 
 � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 	 � � � � � 
 � �� � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � 	 � � � 	 � � � � 
 � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � 	 � 	 � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � 
 � � � 
 �
� � �

★8 � 
 	 � � � � � 

★1 	 � �
★3 � 5
★9 � � � � � � � 	 
 
 � � � � � � �
★3 � 5 � 	 � � � � � � � 	 � � � �
★1 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
★2 � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � � 

★: 	 � � � 	 � � ; � � � � � � 	 � � � � � 
 � � �
★< � � � � � 5 � � � � � � � � � � � 

★

2 � � 	 
 � 	 � � � � � � � � � 5 � � � 5 � 
 � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � 
 
 � � � 	 � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � 	 � 	 � � � � � 
 � � �
� � � 6 � � �8 � 
 	 � � � � � 


None 1 	 � �
None 

Page 29



3 � 5
None 9 � � � � � � � 	 
 
 � � � � � � �
None 3 � 5 � 	 � � � � � � � 	 � � � �
None 1 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
None 2 � � � � 	 � � 
 	 � � � 	 � � � � � � 

None : 	 � � � 	 � � ; � � � � � � 	 � � � � � 
 � � �
None < � � � � � 5 � � � � � � � � � � � 

None 


 � 
 6 �
★4 � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � 
 � � 
 � � 	 � � � 
 � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � ? @ A B @ C A D E C B � � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � 
 F � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
 � 	 � � 4 � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � � 
 � 
 F � � 
 � � � � � � 
 � �� � � � � � � � � � � 3 � � � 	 � � 
 � 
 � � � � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � 
 	 � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 
 � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � �� � � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � 
 
 � � � 
 � � � 
 � � �	 � � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 
 � � � � � � 
 � � � � 5 � 
 � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � 
 � � � � � 	 � � 
 	 � � � � � 
 � � � � 	 � � � 
 	 � � � � � � 	 � �� � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � � � � � � 
 � G � � � G 	 � � � = � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � � � � � � 
 � � 
 � 	 � � 	 � 	 � 	 � 
 � � � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � 	 � � � 	 � � 
 � �� 	 
 � � � � � 
 � 	 � � 	 � 	 � 	 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � � 
 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � � � � � � � � � 
 	 � 
 � � � � 5 � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � �� 	 � � 
 	 � � � � 
 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � 
 � 	 � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � �� � � 2 	 � � � � � � � 	 � H � � � � : � H � �? @ A B @ I C C D B E? J � ? E � J B

Page 30



4 2 � � 	 
 � � � 	 � � 	 � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � 
 � � 
 � � 	 � � K � � � � � � � � � 	 � �
 � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � �� � � � � � � � � � ? @ A B @ C A D E C B � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � 
 F � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � �4 2 � � 	 
 � � � 	 � � 	 � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � � � � 	 � 
� � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � 
 � � 
 F � � 
 � � � �

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation - Reprioritisation
	RPZ Reprioritisation report appendix B

	4 Residents Parking Scheme Changes
	EIA for parking and permit changes


